
 

Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday, November 20th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the November 20th, 2023, Regular Meeting of The Lyman Select Board. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 
 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
 
ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS  

a. Assessor – Presentation for Aerial Imagery 
 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.  

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others 
b. Mail   •YCCA Letter 

 
ITEM #3 MINUTES 

a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 10/16/2023 
b. Review / Approve meeting minutes 11/6/2023 

 
ITEM #4  SIGN WARRANTS  

a. Payroll Warrant #18 in the amount of $27,122.04 
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #19 (FY2024) in the amount of $123,583.56 

 
ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

a. Franchise Agreement, Discuss next steps, Updates from Tony/Brad. Tabled from last meeting 
b. MDOT Request approval for transporting materials, project on Rt 202, waiting on updates 
c. Discussion, holiday gathering event for Town Hall, Discussion from last meeting 

 
ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  

a. Road Commissioner –  
b. Fire Chief –  
c. CEO –  
d. Tax Clerk –  October Report 
e. Treasurer –  Expense Report  
f. Town Manager –  
g. Planning Board – Quarterly Report 
h. Other  -  

 
ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 

a. Transfer Station Closure for Holidays in December 
b. Discussion regarding policy recruiting volunteers.  

 
OTHER 
 
EXCECUTIVE SESSION 
1.M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion with Town Manager regarding personnel matters  
1 M.R.S.A §405 (C) Discussion regarding the condition, or acquisition of real property  
 
 
ADJOURN 



NOTES OF SOME THE ADVANTAGE POINTS 
*as of date flown

1)  Obtaining a view of ….(with greater ease and safety) 
a) Back lot parcels (dirt roads, rights of way, etc. – some go 1 mi into woods)
b) “No Trespassing” parcels
c) Gravel Pits

2)  Getting a layout of the property before their arrival…. 
a) Emergency response – Police, Fire, Ambulance
b) Health Officer

3) Aids in researching, measuring, etc. properties prior to issuing permits

4) As of current, while catching up on past permits, provides less trips out to a
property to check status on new/reno/demo structures and projects

5) Updated sketches (aka building outlines) of structures to better our current records

6) Integratable and also accommodates our GIS mapping recently created (Parcels, Zoning,
Wetlands, etc.)

7) Updated photos of structures on parcels to better our current records

8) Offers a Change Finder product we can add down the road that would detect changes made
from one year to another on a parcel

9) Compare year to year to see changes to a parcel such as tree cutting, gravel pits,
encroachments, etc.

10) Able to measure distances of structures from waterbodies, street, etc.

11) Evaluating/Assessing a natural disaster – should one occur Eagleview will do a flyover

12) Packet presented and videos shared include more detailed information on
 benefits of aerial imagery….to town property assessments, GIS, public safety, 
 and public works  -  Below are links to the website followed by links to two short videos 

 https://www.eagleview.com/industry/government/ 

 https://view.highspot.com/viewer/65328d1d02357f45f9661fb8 

 https://view.highspot.com/viewer/65328d505a53a84bada185be

ITEM #1: (a.) Aerial Imagery Presentation 

https://www.eagleview.com/industry/government/
https://view.highspot.com/viewer/65328d1d02357f45f9661fb8
https://view.highspot.com/viewer/65328d505a53a84bada185be


Benefits of Oblique  
Aerial Imagery for Assessment 
Learn how oblique aerial imagery can help tax assessors work 

more efficiently and inspect more properties in less time.



Assessment departments are charged with providing 
fair and defensible property valuations, delivering an 
equitable tax roll, and maintaining positive relations 
with constituents—all while keeping their teams safe 
and productive.

But with limited staff available to conduct on-site visits, 
assessors often find themselves struggling to “hit their 
numbers” without sacrificing quality.

Field visits are inherently time intensive, especially in 
large rural counties with remote or difficult to access 
properties. When you add up the hours required between 
travel and each actual inspection, an assessor could end 
up covering just a small handful of properties per day.

In addition to the inefficiency of traveling in person to 
each location, field visits can potentially place assessors 
at risk, both to their personal safety while traveling and 
conducting physical inspections, as well as their health 
as they come into close contact with residents. On-site 
inspections can also be an imposition on homeowners’ 
right to privacy, some of whom may not want assessors 
on their property.

Assessors Face  
Multiple Challenges

2 



EagleView’s Oblique  
Aerial Imagery Can Help

This guide will explore the benefits of oblique 
aerial imagery for tax assessors, including:

Increasing efficiency with remote property assessments. 

Identifying additional taxable value.

Integrating aerial imagery with their existing workflow.

1.

2.

3.

To improve efficiency and minimize risk, many counties 
have embraced “desktop assessments,” leveraging Eag-
leView’s oblique (side angled) aerial imagery to calculate 
the value of parcels and stay on top of new construction. 
With EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery, assessors can 
review property details from anywhere, without having 
to visit the residence and inspect the property in person. 

EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery provides high-resolu-
tion views from all four cardinal directions of a structure. 
This allows assessors to see exterior improvements, take 
exact external measurements, overlay parcel lines, assign 
accurate property valuations, and view other important 
context and detail—even for properties that are difficult 
to view from the road, or that are blocked by trees and 
other obstacles.

3

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY



EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery enables assessors to view properties remotely, 
detect changes, and calculate parcel value far more quickly than with traditional 
site visits.

Rather than having to go into the field, aerial imagery brings the world to the 
inspector, allowing for accurate property assessments right from their desk. This 
helps assessment departments:

• Meet assessment deadlines and achieve department goals.

• Decrease costs by eliminating unnecessary expenses from vehicle wear and
tear, fuel, and staffing needed for field visits.

• Efficiently cover large areas. Compared to more densely populated urban
areas, large rural counties with a relatively low concentration of properties
pose unique challenges and a lower return on time invested for conducting
on-site assessments.

• Keep up with growth. For assessment departments in fast growth areas,
conducting on-site inspections and measurements for hundreds (or even
thousands) of new houses and buildings per year would be impossible.

1. Increase Efficiency

4 



2. Identify Additional
Taxable Value

Counties can leverage high-resolution property views and change detection 
solutions to uncover taxable property value, resulting in additional revenue for 
their county. 

Discover Undocumented Structures and Unreported Real Property 
Market Value

In order to conduct fair and equitable assessments on all properties in the region, 
inspectors need to know about newly added porches, garages, pools, living areas, 
and other structures that may increase the taxable value of a property.

While the permitting process provides insights into real property changes that trigger 
additional market value, unreported construction and improvements leave counties 
unaware of non-permitted improvements that don’t reflect on the tax roll. Property 
owners who don’t file construction permits for new improvements, structures, and 
expansions typically do so to avoid paying higher taxes. 

Using EagleView aerial imagery, Mohave County, AZ, found and added over $95 
million in market value, translating into an additional $352,000 of annual tax rev-
enue. Las Animas County, CO, used EagleView aerial imagery covering just one-
third of the county to discover $14 million in actual value from new construction. 

Discover Undeclared Personal Property

In addition to real property, aerial imaging is also useful for discovering unreported 
or undervalued personal property like boats, RVs, and vacation rentals. 

Dare County, NC, used EagleView aerial imagery to discover about $50 million 
in assessed value just in watercraft—some being undervalued at rates as low as 
$20—adding $235k in revenue for the county. 

The area also has a high demand for vacation rentals, which don’t always get 
reported by property owners. Temporary rental platforms like AirBnB and Vrbo 
don’t submit lists of their rentals and locations to local governments, and matching 
listings for personal property appraisers is very difficult and time-consuming. Using 
aerial imagery, Dare County created layers that cross-referenced rental ads, helping 
appraisers find unreported vacation rentals.

AERIAL IMAGERY BUYER’S GUIDE AND CHECKLIST

5



3. Integrate With Your
Existing Workflow
EagleView aerial imagery can be integrated with your existing assessment workflow and 
accessed directly within your Computer-Aided Mass Appraisal (CAMA) platform. 

Assessors can use automated tools like ChangeFinder™ and Sketch Inspect to detect changes 
to a property, identify unpermitted construction, and stay current with construction and 
remodeling projects within their county. 

EagleView ChangeFinder™
EagleView ChangeFinder™ makes property assessments 
easier and faster by automatically detecting property changes 
from year-to-year. Using GIS polygon outlines for analysis of 
changes in size and shape, the platform compares property 
imagery from the last capture to the most recent capture, and 
highlights the areas with the most changes, helping assessors:

• Prioritize their focus by quickly reviewing properties
most likely to need adjustments in valuation, or that
may require more in-depth investigation

• Filter what they’re looking for when searching
parcels, and view properties from different levels and
perspectives

• Increase revenue by discovering previously undetected
improvements

• Support the appraisal and provide defensible proof
during an appeal

EagleView Sketch Inspect™
EagleView Sketch Inspect™ leverages high-resolution aerial 
imagery and an automated algorithm to quickly show asses-
sors the inaccuracies that matter the most. Assessors can 
verify and update property sketches using an automated 
process to compare building outlines to CAMA sketches, as 
well as maintain sketches of properties (building outlines) for 
accurate valuations.

• Streamline workflows and reduce information
bottlenecks with automated sketch verification
algorithms

• Create seamless work orders to address issues
including office, GIS, and field inspection tasks

• Easily find sketches that don’t match what’s on the
ground, including missing sketches

• Sort, filter, review, track, and flag parcels with
discrepancies using the web-based interface

6 



Public Access to 
Aerial Imagery Data

To help increase transparency and build trust with constituents, 
counties can share EagleView aerial imagery with the general 
public using a variety of public-facing portals, interactive maps, 
and mobile apps that include aerial photography and parcel data. 
Homeowners can log in to see their property valuations, as well 
as the high-resolution imagery used to reach that valuation.

Having extremely clear and precise imagery helps improve trans-
parency, increase public trust, and ensure equitable appraisals for 
constituents. By providing the information homeowners need to 
understand valuation assessment methods and decisions, coun-
ties can reduce the number of customer complaints and appeals 
regarding the validity of valuations. 

GET STARTED TODAY

To learn more about how EagleView solutions 
can help meet your department’s needs or to 
request a demo, visit https://www.eagleview.
com/industry/government/

7

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY



Benefits of Oblique  
Aerial Imagery for GIS
Learn how oblique aerial imagery can help GIS professionals 

support their local government’s goals.



GIS professionals are responsible for providing and manag-
ing the data that government departments need to make 
effective decisions, achieve their objectives, and drive new 
initiatives.

To accomplish this, GIS departments have typically relied 
on orthogonal or ortho (top-down) aerial imagery as a “map 
accurate” background image. Because it’s been adjusted for 
topographic relief, lens distortion, and camera tilt, ortho is 
considered an accurate representation with uniform scale 
of the Earth’s surface, and can be used to measure true 
distances. 

This generally works fine when trying to identify things like 
rooftops and street grids. But because ortho imagery only 
provides top-down views of structures, landmarks, and other 
assets, it lacks the perspective needed to determine object 
height and other features, or to identify details that can only 
be seen clearly from a side angle (e.g., street lights, signs, fire 
hydrants, doors, windows, walls, HVAC units, and garages).

That means that maps using only ortho imagery can’t provide 
the insights many departments need in order to accomplish 
a variety of critical tasks.

Imagine This Scenario:

GIS Professionals Need to  
Support Multiple Departments  

• A tourist is visiting from out of town and staying at a
rental house. They have a heart attack and call 911, but
do not know the address of the house they are staying
in. They only know the color of the house is pink.
The dispatcher can identify the general area the call
is coming from and visually locate the specific house
by color. They can then locate the entrances to the
building. This is possible by viewing the side angle of
the structure on the oblique imagery.

• An assessor needs to determine whether a structure is
a building with heated square footage, or only a pole
barn without siding.  They can view the oblique imagery
to see under the roof and determine what the structure
is and calculate its valuation.

• Public works staff can use oblique imagery to map
assets such as light poles or hydrants —features which
would be difficult to discern on an orthogonal image,
and which have traditionally required time-intensive
surveying in the field.

2 



EagleView’s Oblique  
Aerial Imagery Can Help

Oblique imagery is taken at a 40-to-50-degree angle from low flying aircraft equipped with a 
camera system that rapidly captures images from all perspectives, offering a clear view from 
all cardinal directions. These perspectives can then be served together to create a broad-scale, 
holistic world view.

This enables government teams to utilize ‘ground-truthing’ to remotely verify assets in the field (such 
as signs and traffic lights), and avoid misidentifying structural, situational, and topographical details.

By providing this level of high-resolution oblique aerial imagery and geospatial intelligence, GIS 
professionals help the agencies they serve to:

• Streamline their workflows.

• Get actionable intelligence.

• Set priorities.

• Make better decisions.

• Efficiently deploy assets.

• Identify geographical context, patterns,
and issues.

• Monitor geographical and structural
changes.

This guide will explore the benefits of EagleView’s 
oblique aerial imagery for GIS, including:

Complementing ortho imagery with additional side-angle views to provide 
additional perspective and cross-department utility. 

Use cases by department, providing assessment, public safety/911, emergency 
management, and public works with the data-driven insights needed to 
accomplish their goals. 

The ability to integrate oblique aerial imagery within existing workflows and 
software platforms (e.g., Esri, Cityworks). 

Additional visualization and analytics tools from EagleView. 

1.

2.

3.

4.

3

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY





1. Perspective and
Cross-Department Utility

Perspective
EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery offers the perspective and 
insights departments need to accomplish certain critical tasks, 
including the ability to:

• See details from a side angle—doors, windows, walls,
HVAC units, garages, etc.

• Identify landmarks, lights, signs, and other assets that
would be hard to clearly see from top-down ortho
imagery alone.

• Accurately measure structures, assets, and distances
(e.g., distance of a sign from the road) needed for
confident insights.

Cross-Departmental Utility
The value of EagleView’s high-resolution oblique aerial im-
agery spans across many government agencies—facilitating 
cross-departmental collaboration, cost-sharing, and greater 
overall efficiency. 

The same image portfolio that helps GIS professionals maintain 
timely and reliable asset data can also help public safety teams 
pinpoint a 911-caller’s location, as well as enable assessors 
to detect property changes and provide accurate valuations.

In addition to well-known use cases (see “Use Cases by De-
partment” below), government departments have reported 
using oblique aerial imagery to:

• Create and maintain parcel layers.

• Monitor land use.

• Manage zoning land use compliance.

• Facilitate remote permit inspections.

• Manage economic development and planning.

• Facilitate site planning for community events like farmers’
markets and festivals, and plan positioning of public
safety assets and temporary on-site infrastructure.

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY

5



2. Use Cases
by Department

EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery gives GIS 
professionals the ability to support various 
departments by delivering the data, imagery, 
and other information they need to achieve 
their goals.

Assessment
Assessment departments are charged with deliv-
ering a timely, equitable tax roll while keeping their teams safe 
and productive. Time-intensive field visits can limit efficiency, 
add cost, and potentially place assessors at risk. 

EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery helps assessors efficiently 
calculate the value of parcels, and stay on top of improvements 
and new construction.

• Leverage high-resolution property views and change
detection solutions to identify additional taxable value.

• Overlay parcel data and custom GIS layers to streamline
desktop assessments.

• Use oblique imagery to see all sides of a structure,
measure length and height of the structure, and provide
important context and detail.

Public Safety/911
Public safety teams must respond to situations at all hours 
and in all conditions. Access to accurate and timely location 
information is crucial to their success.

GIS professionals can support public safety teams, dispatchers, 
and law enforcement with data layers validated using oblique 
aerial imagery, including: 

• Accurate addressing to help first responders pinpoint
a 911 caller’s location and understand the situation on
the ground.

• Accident reconstruction intelligence and the ability to
track and monitor locations with high concentrations of
accidents or emergency calls.

• Critical site intelligence used when planning for SWAT
raids, serving warrants, and identifying surveillance and
staging areas.

6 



Disaster Preparedness/ 
Emergency Planning
EagleView’s pre- and post-event oblique aerial imagery is 
critical to helping public safety, emergency management, 
and other government agencies plan, prepare, and respond 
to catastrophic events.

• View both recent and historical oblique imagery with
added enhancements including LiDAR, 3D Mesh, and
Near Infrared capture to identify risks for flooding,
vegetation conditions and wildfire risks, and other
potential hazards.

• Use oblique imagery to add additional context to GIS
maps, and better understand the potential impact of
flooding and stormwater management.

• Quickly assess damage in the immediate aftermath
of a disaster, and share oblique aerial image data
when applying for recovery assistance from state and
federal aid programs.

Following a natural disaster or terrorist attack, EagleView 
delivers critical pre- and post-event imagery. All EagleView 
contracts include our Disaster Response Program (DRP), 
which means EagleView will fly affected areas which meet 
certain criteria at discounted or no additional cost. Eag-
leView’s DRP can equip emergency response teams with 
new imagery and data they need to assist with rescue and 
recovery just days after an event.

Public Works
EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery reveals greater detail of 
structures, and provides a more complete understanding of 
assets without a physical inspection, helping public works teams:

• Remotely measure roads, bridges, and other key
infrastructure.

• Preplan infrastructure projects and inspect field assets.

• Track, verify, and report on the status of key
infrastructure components.

• Visualize environmental conditions for public assets.

7

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY



Esri Integration
Esri users can access EagleView’s oblique and orthogonal 
imagery directly within the Esri platform and other data vi-
sualization tools.

• Remove the cost and complexity of third-party imagery
and datasets.

• Make it easy for other departments to leverage the
imagery and data alongside what they’re already
creating and maintaining.

• Overlay GIS data layers on both ortho and oblique
imagery to provide important context.

• Enrich existing GIS layers by adding additional
attributes, such as the type of siding for buildings, or
the color of fire hydrants.

• Heads-up digitize assets and features on ortho and
oblique imagery, and download vector layers to
Shapefile or KML to import to ArcGIS.

There are countless ways to integrate EagleView into your Esri 
applications and third-party Esri-based applications:

• EagleView for ArcGIS Desktop, ArcGIS Pro, and Web
AppBuilder Developer Edition.

• Integrate our oblique imagery into your ArcGIS Online
Web Mapping Applications using our JavaScript web-
based API.

• Use the EagleView ortho as a basemap in web maps,
ArcGIS Online apps, and in ArcGIS Pro or ArcMap using
our REST cloud-based Image Service.

• Access orthomosaics in WMS, WMTS, and TMS format.

• Use EagleView CONNECTExplorer or a custom web-
map creation to overlay published REST data for a
powerful combination of imagery and local data.

3. Integrate With Your
Existing Workflow

8 



Cityworks Integration
Government agencies rely on aerial imagery to verify assets 
and reveal details of critical structures—without the need for 
a field visit. 

To help make this process even more efficient, Cityworks users 
in the US and Canada can view and access their high-reso-
lution EagleView oblique and ortho imagery from within the 
Cityworks Esri map viewer. This enables them to:

• Increase productivity and eliminate the need to switch
between multiple applications.

• Remotely identify and measure roads, bridges, and
other key infrastructure.

• Collaborate within one environment with other local
government departments.

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY

9



Certified Imagery With TrueTouch™
Certified Orthomosaic and TrueTouch imagery enhancements 
are available options for EagleView users. Orthomosaics are 
image maps that have been produced to accurately represent 
the geography of an area. They’re created by combining a col-
lection of overlapping ortho images (aerial imagery that’s free 
of distortion and geometrically corrected to produce a uniform 
scale). An orthomosaic view allows users across government 
departments to easily scroll and pan across a unified image to 
get a more accurate and complete view, versus loading and 
inspecting separate individual images of an area.

EagleView also offers Certified Orthomosaic imagery, where 
an orthomosaic is validated for geospatial accuracy by our 
licensed engineering and surveying team, with the additional 
use of surveyed ground control, and produced in accordance 
with state and local requirements. 

BEFORE AFTER

4. Additional tools

EagleView TrueTouch applies visual enhancements to critical 
features in the orthomosaic imagery by:

• Removing evidence of seams and distortions.

• Removing inconsistencies related to tall building lean,
time of day, changes in imagery capture, cloud shadow,
and a variety of other issues.

• Improving image quality, assuring positional accuracy,
and providing accurate representation across all features
(e.g., roads, bridges, large buildings, and landmarks).

10 



GET STARTED TODAY

To learn more about how EagleView solutions 
can help meet your department’s needs or to 
request a demo, visit https://www.eagleview.
com/industry/government/

Geospatial 3D Mesh Layers
EagleView’s partnership with Skyline offers additional ways to visualize your 
geospatial data using 3D mesh layers.

Government agencies use geo-referenced 3D mesh layers for urban plan-
ning, asset management, emergency response planning, tax assessments, 
and other critical functions. 

EagleView’s high-resolution oblique imagery can be delivered with both 
3DML files for viewing in Skyline’s TerraExplorer web-based GIS viewer and 
editor, along with SLPK files for viewing in Esri’s ArcGIS Online, ArcGIS Pro, 
and ArcGIS Urban platforms. Users can view scenes in 3D and use GIS tools 
such as viewshed and line-of-sight calculation.

• Highest Resolution—Reproduce the smallest details, including cars,
trees, fences, and walls with advanced color balancing and high-
quality texturing.

• Multiple Output Formats—Export in a variety of formats and
resolutions, including 3” – 6” GSD, 3DML, and SLPK.

• Superior Precision—View accurate representations of intricate
features, details, geometry, and color with high-quality texturing.

• Intuitive Interface—Access powerful visualization capabilities and
tools, including photo projection on terrain and project preview to
streamline evaluation and adjustments to parameters.

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY

11



Benefits of Oblique Aerial 
Imagery for Public Works
Learn how oblique aerial imagery can help Public Works departments 

efficiently manage community assets.



ORTHOGONAL OBLIQUE

Public Works departments are responsible for ensuring the 
prudent use, maintenance, and upkeep of publicly-owned 
property, infrastructure, and assets. 

Public Works is generally made up of multiple divisions, 
and involves the operation and maintenance of a variety of 
resources, including streets, storm sewers, drinking water 
systems, sanitation, and parks. 

By efficiently managing these assets, Public Works depart-
ments are able to get the highest possible value out of public 
investments, act as good stewards of local resources, and help 
their community keep up with development and expansion.

However, with so many moving parts, efficiently planning proj-
ects, managing resources, and maintaining assets in the field 
can be a challenge. Many departments likely use orthogonal 
imagery, which provides a top-down 90-degree angle view, 
to help manage the work. Unfortunately, public assets and 
infrastructure may be difficult to identify and inspect with 
only an orthogonal view. 

To work as efficiently and cost-effectively as possible, Public 
Works departments need more context and perspective to 
quickly locate assets, as well as coordinate a complex system 
of projects and teams. 

Providing Public Works 
Services is Challenging

See the additional context provided by the oblique image of this roundabout, 
especially the ability to see what kinds of street signs surround it. 

2 



EagleView’s Oblique  
Aerial Imagery Can Help

The more information Public Works departments have about a location, the quicker 
they’re able to get that job done, and the more time and money they can save.

With EagleView’s high-resolution oblique aerial imagery, Public Works teams can 
inspect assets and infrastructure remotely, allowing them to get a more complete 
understanding of location and condition without the need for an on-site inspection.

Oblique imagery is taken at a 40-to-50-degree angle from low flying aircraft equipped 
with a camera system that rapidly captures images from all perspectives, offering 
a clear view from all cardinal directions. These perspectives can then be served 
together to create a broad-scale, holistic world view.

This enables Public Works teams to utilize ‘ground-truthing’ to remotely verify as-
sets in the field (such as signs and traffic lights), and avoid misidentifying structural, 
situational, and topographical details.

This guide will explore the benefits of EagleView’s oblique 
aerial imagery for Public Works, including the ability to:

Remotely locate, inspect, and manage assets and infrastructure. 

Efficiently manage stormwater, drainage, and capital improvement projects.

Integrate oblique aerial imagery with existing workflows and software platforms.

1.

2.

3.

3

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY



1. Remotely Locate, Inspect, and
Manage Assets and Infrastructure

Locate and Inspect
EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery offers the accuracy Public Works teams need 
to remotely identify and inventory landmarks, lights, signs, and other assets that 
would be hard to clearly see from top-down ortho imagery alone.

With high-resolution oblique imagery, you’re able to:

• View assets from all cardinal directions, providing context unavailable in
orthogonal imagery.

• Remotely measure, track, verify, inspect, and report on the status of roads,
bridges, signage, and other infrastructure and assets.

• Mark a geo-accurate XY coordinate location for each asset.

4 



Efficiently Manage Field Repairs
This information can be used to create maps for a variety of 
uses as well as initiate work orders to multiple departments 
at once (e.g., if damage is detected to both the street and 
nearby signage, work orders can be efficiently assigned to 
the appropriate departments based on that single remote 
inspection). 

EagleView’s oblique aerial imagery allows Public Works 
departments to understand and address the condition of 
all key elements of community infrastructure–all without 
leaving the office.

Access Imagery in the Field
While aerial imagery can support a variety of remote tasks, 
sometimes a field visit is unavoidable. The EagleView mobile 
app is ideal for professionals who need information and access 
to imagery while out of the office.

CONNECTMobile™ lets users access EagleView imagery on an 
Android or iOS-powered mobile device – ideal for situations 
when a field visit is required.

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY

5



2. Efficiently Manage Drainage, Stormwater,
and Capital Improvement Projects

Drainage and Stormwater
As local governments develop and execute growth plans, it’s 
important to understand how terrain will impact expansion 
and water flow. 

Working with their GIS department, Public Works departments 
can use EagleView oblique imagery and elevation data to view 
contours, measure true ground distance, and manage drainage. 
EagleView aerial imagery can also be used to identify impervious 
surfaces and help calculate stormwater fees. 

BEFORE

AFTER

Capital Improvements
Oblique aerial imagery can also be used to help plan and 
execute capital improvement projects, including the ability to:

• Gather environmental information when determining
site selection.

• Use imagery to visualize projects and gain
stakeholder approval.

• Access historical imagery to track progress and
visualize change.

6 





Esri Integration
Esri users can access EagleView’s oblique and orthogonal 
imagery directly within the Esri platform and other data visu-
alization tools, including the ability to:

• Remove the cost and complexity of third-party imagery
and datasets.

• Make it easy for other departments to leverage the
imagery and data alongside what they’re already
creating and maintaining.

• Overlay GIS data layers on both ortho and oblique
imagery to provide important context.

• Enrich existing GIS layers by adding additional
attributes, such as the type of siding for buildings, or
the color of fire hydrants.

• Heads-up digitize assets and features on ortho and
oblique imagery, and download vector layers to
Shapefile or KML to import to ArcGIS.

There are countless ways to integrate EagleView into your Esri 
applications and third-party Esri-based applications:

• EagleView for ArcGIS Desktop, ArcGIS Pro, and Web
AppBuilder Developer Edition.

• Integrate our oblique imagery into your ArcGIS Online
Web Mapping Applications using our JavaScript web-
based API.

• Use the EagleView ortho as a basemap in web maps,
ArcGIS Online apps, and in ArcGIS Pro or ArcMap using
our REST cloud-based Image Service.

• Access orthomosaics in WMS, WMTS, and TMS format.

• Use EagleView CONNECTExplorer or a custom web-
map creation to overlay published REST data for a
powerful combination of imagery and local data.

3. Integrate With Your
Existing Workflow

8 



Cityworks Integration
Government agencies rely on aerial imagery to verify assets 
and reveal details of critical structures—without the need 
for a field visit. 

To help make this process even more efficient, Cityworks 
users in the US and Canada can view and access their 
high-resolution EagleView oblique and ortho imagery from 
within the Cityworks Esri map viewer. This enables them to:

• Increase productivity and eliminate the need to
switch between multiple applications.

• Remotely identify and measure roads, bridges, and
other key infrastructure.

• Collaborate within one environment with other local
government departments.

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY

9



Certified Imagery With TrueTouch™
Certified Orthomosaic and TrueTouch imagery enhancements 
are additional tools available from EagleView to help Public 
Works departments locate and visualize assets in the field. 

Orthomosaics are image maps that have been produced to 
accurately represent the geography of an area. They’re created 
by combining a collection of overlapping ortho images (aerial 
imagery that’s free of distortion and geometrically corrected 
to produce a uniform scale). An orthomosaic view allows users 
across government departments to easily scroll and pan across a 
unified image to get a more accurate and complete view, versus 
loading and inspecting separate individual images of an area.

EagleView also offers Certified Orthomosaic imagery, where 
an orthomosaic is validated for geospatial accuracy by our 
licensed engineering and surveying team, with the additional 
use of surveyed ground control, and produced in accordance 
with state and local requirements.

BEFORE AFTER

EagleView TrueTouch applies visual enhancements to critical 
features in the orthomosaic imagery by:

• Removing evidence of seams and distortions.

• Removing inconsistencies related to tall building lean,
time of day, changes in imagery capture, cloud shadow,
and a variety of other issues.

• Improving image quality, assuring positional accuracy,
and providing accurate representation across all features
(e.g., roads, bridges, large buildings, and landmarks).

10 



GET STARTED TODAY

To learn more about how EagleView solutions 
can help meet your department’s needs or to 
request a demo, visit https://www.eagleview.
com/industry/government/

Geospatial 3D Mesh Layers
EagleView’s partnership with Skyline offers additional ways to visualize your 
geospatial data using 3D mesh layers.

Government agencies use geo-referenced 3D mesh layers for urban plan-
ning, asset management, emergency response planning, tax assessments, 
and other critical functions. 

EagleView’s high-resolution oblique imagery can be delivered with both 
3DML files for viewing in Skyline’s TerraExplorer web-based GIS viewer and 
editor, along with SLPK files for viewing in Esri’s ArcGIS Online, ArcGIS Pro, 
and ArcGIS Urban platforms. Users can view scenes in 3D and use GIS tools 
such as viewshed and line-of-sight calculation.

• Highest Resolution—Reproduce the smallest details, including cars,
trees, fences, and walls with advanced color balancing and high-
quality texturing.

• Multiple Output Formats—Export in a variety of formats and
resolutions, including 3” – 6” GSD, 3DML, and SLPK.

• Superior Precision—View accurate representations of intricate
features, details, geometry, and color with high-quality texturing.

• Intuitive Interface—Access powerful visualization capabilities and
tools, including photo projection on terrain and project preview to
streamline evaluation and adjustments to parameters.

BENEFITS OF OBLIQUE AERIAL IMAGERY

11

http://www.eagleview.com/government
https://www.eagleview.com/industry/government/
https://www.eagleview.com/industry/government/
https://www.eagleview.com/government/3dmesh/


QTY PRODUCT NAME  PRODUCT DESCRIPTION 

42 EagleView Cloud - Imagery Provides entitlement to the EagleView Platform, a secure hosted infrastructure and 

access to EagleView enabled workflow, analytics, and high-resolution imagery to 

dramatically improve efficiency for government agencies. Includes regular refreshes 

of ortho and oblique imagery at the GSD and frequency specified. Target capture 

season subject to weather and airspace permissions. Services term commences on 

date of activation.

     GSD: 3in

     Refresh Frequency: 2-Year Refresh

     Start Year: 2024

     End Year: 2026

42 EagleView Cloud - Imagery - Frequent Ortho Provides entitlement to additional frequent ortho imagery refreshes at the 

frequency specified.     GSD: 3in

     Refresh Frequency: 2-Year Refresh

     Start Year: 2025

     End Year: 2027

1 EagleView Cloud - Software Provides an unlimited number of authorized users the ability to login and access the 

EagleView Cloud software and analytics via the web-based EagleView Cloud 

platform. This software provides a robust compliment of tools for engaging with 

imagery as well as additional project and collaboration tools, and access to mobile 

application. Requires the purchase of an EagleView - Imagery entitlement.

1 EagleView Cloud - Comprehensive Integration Bundle Provides activation of integrations between the EagleView Cloud platform and 

compatible customer environments (including compatible CAMA providers,1 EagleView Cloud - Authorized Subdivisions Extends the ability for a contracting county or non-state consortium of counties the 

ability to authorize access to their EagleView Cloud organization to any political unit 

or subdivision located totally or substantially within their boundary.

1 EagleView Cloud - Early Access Provides entitlement to imagery from counties neighboring the imagery AOI as part 

of EagleView Cloud. Also provides entitlement to Early Access to refreshed imagery 

captures which allows authorized users to use new imagery immediately following its 

preliminary processing and quality control checks and prior to its final processing.2890 EagleView Cloud - Building Outlines Building outlines are created from the most-nadir single-frame orthogonal image in a 

specified, EagleView imagery source. EagleView delivers digital building outlines and     First Imagery Refresh Only

2890 EagleView Cloud - ChangeFinder Building outlines are created from the orthomosaic tiles of a specified newer 

Pictometry imagery source and classified relative to a specified, older imagery      Second Imagery Refresh through end of agreement

EagleView Cloud - Disaster Response Program Includes eligibility for the Disaster Response Program.

1 EagleView Cloud - FutureView Advanced Training (Full) Full conference registration to advanced training designed to maximize deployment. 

Includes airfare, hotel room for up to three nights, event registration, and round-trip3 EagleView Cloud - Years Capture History Includes access to historical ortho and oblique frame imagery from the EagleView 

archive. Quantity represents the number of calendar years of archive imagery 

Page 1 of 2



Budget Proposal

Proposal For: Town of Lyman, ME EagleView Rep: John Gannon Quote Date: 11/13/2023

Project Name: 3-inch w/ Frequent Ortho's & Building Outlines Phone: 607-742-8159 Expiration Date: 3/12/2024

Initial Term: 3 Years Email: John.gannon@eagleview.com

QTY SALES PRICE

42 EagleView Cloud - Imagery

  GSD: 3in

  Refresh Frequency: 3-Year Refresh

  Start Year: 2024

  End Year: 2026

42 EagleView Cloud - Imagery - Frequent Ortho

  GSD: 3in

  Refresh Frequency: Last 2 of 3 Years

  Start Year: 2025

  End Year: 2027

1 EagleView Cloud - Software

1 EagleView Cloud - Comprehensive Integration Bundle

1 EagleView Cloud - Authorized Subdivisions

1 EagleView Cloud - Early Access

2890 EagleView Cloud - Building Outlines

  Refresh Frequency: 3-Year Refresh

EagleView Cloud - Disaster Response Program

1 EagleView Cloud - FutureView Advanced Training (Full)

3 EagleView Cloud - Years Capture History

Total Annual Price $12,933.50

PRODUCT NAME

Page 1 of 1

mailto:John.gannon@eagleview.com
Schedule & Payment Notes:
2024 - Ortho & Obliq & Bldg Outlines
2025 - Ortho
2026 - Ortho
$12,933.50 x 3 annual payments = $38,800.50
*Review of Non-Appropriation Clause included is needed

Here is the financial information you will need for this.

181-11-33-310 requested funds for an outside consultant to do training with assessor  Balance = $20,000
191-11-70-710 requested funds for GIS mapping program  Balance = $6,000

Please let me know if you have any questions


Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer
Town of Lyman
11 So. Waterboro Rd.
Lyman, ME 04002
(207) 247-0646




ITEM #2: (b.) Mail



























































Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 16th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 1 of 5 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair), Amber Swett, Victoria Gavel 
Selectboard members absent: Rusty “Ralph” Blackington (Chair), Jessica Picard 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board.
b. Mail   • York County Commissioners Letter

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 10/2/2023

Amber Swett - Motions to approve. Victoria Gavel seconds.
Amber Swett – Asks about Tony Vigue’s recommendation to add language to the Franchise
Ordinance and if that should also be added to the agreement. There is some discussion that this
can be added to both documents. She also clarifies spelling correction on Page four.
Motion passes 3-0-0

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #15 in the amount of $27,699.23

Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Victoria Gavel seconds. Motion passes: 3-0-0
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #14 (FY2024) in the amount of $45,778.25

Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve. Amber Swett seconds
Victoria Gavel – Verifies the TRF personal protect gear is for the Transfer Station employees.
Amber Swett – States the Town spent $11,676.86 on Municipal Solid Waste vs $556.65 on
recycling.

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Review Planning Board Bylaws

Don Hernon – States from the last meeting the Select Board submitted to the Planning Board their
feedback on the bylaws and recommended changes. On section 1.4 regarding Bias, the Planning
Board agreed to change the language so that bias would be dealt with in an open public session.
Under 2.2.1 in the bylaws makes reference to the Zoning Ordinance that filling vacancies on the
Planning Board shall be by advertising for new members and the Planning Board will review
applicants and make recommendation to the Select Board. The Planning Board doesn’t see any
reason to make changes to this section.
Lindsay Gagne – States the Charter calls for filling of vacancies on boards and committees in
accordance with the current hiring policy. The Select Board approved an interim hiring policy for
recruiting members to boards and committees. Applications that are submitted are confidential
records until the person is hired or appointed.
Thomas Hatch – States what’s worked in the past may have worked then but we’re trying to bring
forward new methodology and some of the past practices were more encumbering when trying to
recruit employees.

DRAFT
ITEM #3: (a.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/


Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 16th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 5 

Victoria Gavel – States the Ordinance says one thing and the Charter says something different and 
feels we would need to choose which one to follow and amend the other at some point, so it makes 
sense.  
Amber Swett – States there is reference in the notes that on July 20th two members of the Planning 
Board were in attendance of an ORC meeting and made an argument that the Charter supersedes 
the Lyman Zoning Ordinance. She recommends changing 2.1 in the bylaws to read “Appointments to 
the Planning Board are to be made by the Town Manager with concurrence of the Select Board and 
in accordance with the Lyman Municipal Charter.” 
Don Hernon – States on section 3.4 there were questions regarding the Planning Board Secretary 
completing minutes and administrative duties, however, they would agree to change the language 
to reflect that the Planning Board Secretary will coordinate with the Admin CEO on completing 
administrative duties for the planning Board. Though there was some confusion between the 
terminology of Planning Board Clerk and Admin CEO. Once the planning board gets clarification on 
which terminology to use, they will make adjustments to that section in the bylaws. He clarifies that 
under 3.7 the vacancies of officers are elected by the Planning Board, meaning the roles of chair, 
vice chair and secretary and the Planning Board can refer 3.7 to 3.1 in the bylaws where 3.1 defines 
the term “Officers”. Under 5.1 the Planning Board was going to clarify the term “Planning Board 
Clerk” and remove the language “under the supervision of the secretary”. Under 5.2 the Admin CEO 
reports to the select board, however this should be clarified that the Admin CEO maintains copies of 
approved documents and provides periodical reports to the Town Manager as it states in the 
Charter. There is discussion to remove section 5.2 as the job descriptions and charter will cover 
regular maintenance of public records. Under 6.2, the Planning Board would agree to remove this 
section. Under 7.1 the Planning Board was going to add “Town Library, GMFR, or another Town 
property with sufficient meeting space.”  
Amber Swett – Suggests wording under 6.2 “at Town Hall or other Town Approved meeting place.” 
And the Select Board can come up with a list of approved spaces to hold meetings.  
Don Hernon – States under 7.1 posting notification, they will add language “request for postings 
shall be made in a timely manner” and will make other modifications in the same paragraph to 
remove repeated use of “Town”. Under 11.1 the planning board will add language to add “will 
submit to the select board for final approval of amendments”.  
Amber Swett – States under 2.5 the planning board moves alternate members into permeant 
vacancies when one becomes available, but the charter states how vacancies are filled and would 
suggest 2.5 be removed from the bylaws.  

b. Review Franchise Ordinance, revision discussion from Public Hearing.
Lindsay Gagne – States after the public hearing and recommendations from Tony Vigue the
definition of “Video Service Provider” was added to the Ordinance. Once the Ordinance is enacted
by the Select Board then the Board can go back to negotiating the Franchise Agreement. Tony Vigue
had recommended the board ensure there are terms in the agreement to cover events such as
liquidated damages and things the cable company should be accountable for.
Amber Swett – Motions to accept the Cable Television Ordinance
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. She asks why we have to have an ordinance and if this is the
only cable company we have in Town
Lindsay Gagne – Explains the Ordinance doesn’t pertain specifically to the Cable company;
however the Agreement specifies it is not exclusive to only one company so the board can have
multiple agreements with other service providers. Tony Vigue had recommended the Board enact
an Ordinance as added protection for the Town and Town Council recommended a simplified

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 16th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 5 

version that mirrors state statutes. The Franchise Agreement can be further negotiated if the 
board feels there needs to be better terms in there.  
Motion passes: 3-0-0 

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Road Commissioner – none
b. Fire Chief –

Fire Chief was not in attendance, but there was discussion of the open house event the week prior
and GMFR did a great job coordinating and making a wonderful public event. GMFR was able to sell
their older firetruck to Limington that was in need of one. The equipment they were able to get with
ARPA funds has been a great addition also.

c. CEO – none
d. Tax Clerk –  Monthly Reports July - September
e. Treasurer –  Expense Report
f. Town Manager – none
g. Other  -

Michelle Feliccitti – States Bunganut Committee will be scheduling their upcoming meetings. They
are currently looking into grant options for the Park. They have roughly 130 responses from the
Survey they will be evaluating. The Comprehensive Plan Committee will hold their initial meeting on
October 30th and will look into the Land Study. The Budget Committee has their quarterly meeting
on the 30th as well.
Thomas Hatch – States there was a walkthrough at Bunganut Park with YMCA and they had done a
great job cleaning up the park for the end of the season.
Victoria Gavel – States if the board waived all the insurance requirements, she would volunteer to
remove the old charcoal grills out of there to help clean up the Park.
Thomas Hatch – States he recently was at the Transfer Station and the improvements are looking
good. The area will be a safer environment once the work is completed.

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Discussion regarding Town Clerk Position

Lindsay Gagne – States after the Town meeting in October, she has been considering a job
description for a separate Town Clerk Position. However, as it stands alone, this would be a part-
time position.
Victoria Gavel – States she wouldn’t think it would be a full-time position and thought when the
position carried other titles, like Tax Collector, allowed it to be more of a full-time position.
Lindsay Gagne – States she has pulled some data that shows the amount of time that is put in for
Town Clerk duties and would recommend adding other titles to streamline the position. There was
sentiment at the Town Meeting of what the contingency plan would be in the event the Town
Manger was absent. The board could also consider the idea of an office administrator/Town Clerk.
Carol Baker Roux – Asks if the $60,217 amount includes the $19,000 amount from Salaries and
Benefits of the previous Town Meeting.
Lindsay Gagne – Explains the $60,000 was appropriated from Surplus but not moved to another
account and was voted as a separate account. The Board can’t merge any dollar amount from one
account to another unless there was a Town Meeting and the voters voted in favor of doing that.

b. Approval for electrical work at Transfer Station
Thomas Hatch – States there was an underground wire that had been uncovered during
construction that will need to be fixed.

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 16th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 4 of 5 

Lindsay Gagne – States there are a couple different reserve accounts the money could come out for 
the repair, but this would need board approval to use funds out of a reserve account. The board 
could take out of the Contingency reserve, however there is only $2,500 in that account and the 
Electricians quote is for $5,000. The other reserve accounts are Capital Improvement or Transfer 
Station Reserve. The Transfer Station Reserve account was originally designed to help build up funds 
to work towards replacing the compactors.  
Amber Swett – States she would prefer it come out of Capital Improvement for the reason that in 
past years, reserves put aside for the Transfer Station had been pulled from for other things and she 
would like to see the Transfer Station get the repairs it needs.  
Victoria Gavel – Motions to take the $5,000 out of Capital Improvement 
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-0-0 

c. Cemetery Committee, request for fundraising event
Thomas Hatch – States there was a vehicle accident that damaged two headstones in the Burbank
Cemetery. The cemetery committee is looking to collect donations to replace the broken
headstones. They have put together a request to set up an expendable fund.
Victoria Gavel – Motions to create an Expendable fund for the purpose of replacing and repairing
headstones at a cemetery located on Route 111 that sustained damage as a result of a crash on
September 2nd, 2023 and any funds collected over and above the purchasing and installation costs
will be used for additional landscaping and some sort of fencing to alert and protect both drivers
and the headstones.
Amber Swett- Seconds the motion. Motin passes: 3-0-0

OTHER 

EXCECUTIVE SESSION 
1.M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion with Town Manager regarding personnel matters
1 M.R.S.A §405 (C) Discussion regarding the condition, or acquisition of real property

Amber Swett – Motions to go into executive session per 1 M.R.S.A 405 (A) personnel matters discussion with Town 
Manager and 1 M.R.S.A 405 (C) discussion regarding the condition, or acquisition of real property.  
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-0-0 

Amber Swett – Makes a motion to come out of executive session. 
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-0-0 

ADJOURN 

Amber Swett – Motions to adjourn.  
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-0-0. DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 16th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 5 of 5 

__________________________________________ 
Rusty “Ralph” Blackington  

__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch  

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 5 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated October 16th, 2023 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday November 6th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 1 of 4 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Rusty “Ralph” Blackington (Chair), Jessica Picard, Amber Swett, Victoria Gavel 
Selectboard members absent: Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair) 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. RSU #57 Presentation on Adult Education Programs

Adam Goude – States RSU 57 provides different types of adult education to the community that
include high school equivalency education and other quality of life classes such as wreath making
and workforce training programs which they partner with local businesses. Information on their
programs can be found at https://massabesic.maineadulted.org/

b. Lyman Historical Society Presents: History of John Burbank
Steve Lord – In light of Veterans Day they have a presentation to the board regarding John Burbank,
a Revolutionary War Veteran. The Historical Society has posted on their Web Page information of
their presentation. John Burbank signed on to the crew of The Dalton then was later imprisoned as a
prisoner of war in the Old Mill Prison in Plymouth England where he remained for two years until a
prisoner exchange was arranged by Benjamin Franklyn. He later signs on as Master Sergeant of Arms
on the Bonhomme Richard under Captain John Paul Jones. After his service John Burbank moved to
Lyman and lived to be over 90 years old. The Cemetery Committee has made arrangements to repair
the Burbank Headstone that was damaged and will be raising donations for the other headstones
that were damaged.
Millet Day – The Historical Society has made a donation on behalf of society for the restoration of
those stones.

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
Joe Wagner – Thanks Don Hernon for his service in the Naval Academy. States the Town Clerk
Position is responsible for vital records, business licenses, hunting & fishing Licenses, ATV, boat, and
snowmobile registrations, and coordinating elections and training of election clerks. Other services
include administration of oaths and preparation of state reports. The intent of the article language
at Town Meeting was not to exclude other duties such as working at the counter.
Susan Briggs – States what’s in the packet tonight was a study that addresses payments taken at the
counter and does not include elections or other duties. The Town Clerk position should be a full-
time position. She asks if the Town Manager is performing these duties at the counter for this year.
Carol Baker Roux – States the board was elected in good faith by the voters of Lyman and asks that
the board hire a full-time Town Clerk.

b. Mail   •Lifeflight  •MBH letter  •SMVMCA Letter   •York County Sherrif October Report
Reviewed in Agenda Packet.

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 10/16/2023

Discussion to table to the next meeting as there are not enough board members present from the
last meeting to vote on approving the minutes.

DRAFT
ITEM #3: (b.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/
https://massabesic.maineadulted.org/


Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday November 6th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 4 

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #16 in the amount of $27,785.22

Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Jessica Picard seconds.
Victoria Gavel – Asks why there are two totals at the bottom.
Jeanette Lemay – States the Town pays Maine Municipal Employee Health Trust out of the AP
Warrant then for employees who have additional coverage over an above what the Town pays
for; this is then deducted from their payroll, explaining the difference between the two numbers
in the Payroll Warrant.
Motion passes: 4-0-0

b. Accounts Payable Warrant #17 (FY2024) in the amount of $890,590.45
Victoria Gavel – States one of the checks is made out to her cousin who did a land survey and
wanted to disclose this to the board if any of them were in disagreement to her voting on the
warrant.  There is discussion among the board and no disagreement on the matter.
Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Jessica Picard seconds the motion.
Amber Swett – States on page 3, there was a payment for Kennebunk Pond Gate for $100.00 and
thought they were all set with the gate for now. She asks why there was payment for snow
plowing in the warrant. Also on page four, she asks for clarification on Jessica’s Cleaning service
for additional vacuuming.
Jeanette Lemay – States the $100 should be in the Trash line for trash removal at the park and she
will make the change in the warrant. The Plowing contract is paid in installments and that was the
first installment that went out. The additional vacuuming is for the winter months when there is
an excess of sand and salt that gets tracked in. Since the key situation was straightened out, they
have stopped doing the extra vacuuming year round and now have gone back to just the winter
clean up.
Motion passes: 4-0-0

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Review Planning Board Bylaws

Victoria Gavel – Motions to accept the draft bylaws as written.
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0

b. Franchise Agreement, Discuss next steps
There is discussion to further review the agreement and verify if “Video Service Provider” is defined
in the agreement and if there is a section covering liquidated damages. The board agrees to table
the item for further review.

c. Discussion regarding Town Clerk Position
Jessica Picard – Suggests doing a workshop with the board to review the information and talk it
through as a board.
A workshop has been scheduled for Friday November 17, 2023 at 6:00pm.

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Road Commissioner – none
b. Fire Chief – none
c. CEO – none
d. Tax Clerk –  none
e. Treasurer –  Expense Report – Reviewed in Agenda Packet
f. Town Manager – Progress Report – Reviewed in Meeting

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday November 6th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 4 

Victoria Gavel – States the Transfer Station is looking very good but noticed there needs to be some 
sheet steel installed by one of the compactors.  
Jeanette Lemay – States there was some work being done after Victoria Gavel’s visit at the Transfer 
Station and will check with the Town Manger for clarification.  

g. Other  -
Karen Kane – Kennebunk Pond Committee. States a summary of the project has been updated on
the Town’s Website. The committee has made a recommendation to have cameras installed, one by
the gate and one in the parking area. There will be monthly costs incurred from internet and IT
services and the set up for the cameras is approximately $4,000. If the board is in agreement, then
the committee would move forward and get more information from Bean Data.
Victoria Gavel – Asks if this was part of cutting back some of the other funds for ARPA.
Karen Kane – States the gate project was cut back. The cameras were always a recommendation to
monitor the area for vandalism. With the costs brought down on the gate system, the committee
figures all costs included will come in under what was originally anticipated.
Jessica Picard – States she would want to ensure there are plans for ongoing costs on the
maintenance of the cameras and additional devices.
Karen Kane – States she will work with the committee on getting a final quote for the cameras.

Michelle Feliccitti – Bunganut Park Committee. The committee will be working on putting together 
some history of Bunganut and reviewing the survey results. They are also looking into, with the 
Town Manager, the Elder Friendly program through AARP and other grants for trail systems. The 
committee will be looking into five-year and ten-year plans for improvements to the park and 
potential for community events that will help clean up the park and bring in revenue with 
fundraising.   

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Appoint Warden for November 7th State Election

Amber Swett- Makes a motion to Appoint Michelle Feliccitti as Warden for November 7th Election.
Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0

b. MDOT Request approval for transporting materials, project on Rt 202
Discussion to table the item until after the State opens bids for contractors.
Jessica Picard – Motion to table the item till next meeting
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion Passes: 4-0-0

c. Discussion, holiday gathering event for Town Hall
Victoria Gavel – States there was good community interaction at the GMFR event and thought it
would be fun to have a similar event at the Town Hall to meet the board and departments.
Ralph Blackington – Suggests doing it on a Wednesday night when the Town Hall is open late.

d. Request for waiver of Hold Harmless Agreement for volunteer work – Victoria Gavel
Jeanette Lemay – States Victoria Gavel has volunteered to remove the old grills from Bunganut Park
if the Board waives all the insurance requirements. There is also a phone line that needs to be
installed that needs trenching before the line can be dropped in.
Jessica Picard – Asks if there can be a formal form that is signed off on to waive insurance
requirements not specific to Vicky but for use for other volunteers in the future.
Jeanete Lemay - Explains the board can do that but also board members fall under workers comp.DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday November 6th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 4 of 4 

Jessica Picard – Motions to waive the Hold Harmless agreement for Victoria Gavel to perform the 
volunteer work. 
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-0-1 (Ralph Blackington, Amber Swett, 
Jessica Picard approve; Victoria Gavel abstains.) 

e. Schedule Budget Workshops
Budget Workshops are scheduled for December 12th and December 19th at 6:00pm

OTHER 
Amber Swett – Suggests to the board to add to the next workshop on November 17th to talk about getting information 
out to the community highlighting positive updates.  

EXCECUTIVE SESSION 

ADJOURN 
Jessica Picard – Motions to adjourn. Amber Swett seconds. Motions passes: 4-0-0 

__________________________________________ 
Rusty “Ralph” Blackington  

__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch  

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 4 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated November 6th, 2023 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne DRAFT



ITEM #4: (a.) Payroll Warrant









ITEM #4: (b.) AP Warrant













1 

 CABLE TV FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

Between the Town of Lyman, Maine and  

 Spectrum Northeast, LLC By Charter Communications, Inc. Its 

Manager 

Table of Contents 
1. Statement of Agreement ........................................................................................................ 3 

2. Title ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

3. Parties ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

4. Notices (Communications) .................................................................................................... 4 

5. Grant of Authority.................................................................................................................. 4 

6. Term ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

7. Governing Law ...................................................................................................................... 5 

8. Effect of Acceptance .............................................................................................................. 5 

9. Definitions.............................................................................................................................. 6 

10. Construction and Maintenance ............................................................................................ 11 

11. Operations ............................................................................................................................ 15 

12. Insurance .............................................................................................................................. 16 

13. Performance Bond ............................................................................................................... 18 

14. Records and Reports ............................................................................................................ 19 

15. Franchise Fee ....................................................................................................................... 21 

16. Public, Educational and Governmental Access (PEG) ........................................................ 22 

17. Build-out .............................................................................................................................. 25 

18. Cable Service to Municipal Buildings ................................................................................. 25 

19. Rates & Services .................................................................................................................. 26 

20. Rights of Individuals ............................................................................................................ 27 

21. Unauthorized Connections/Continuity of Service ................................................................ 28 

22. Subscriber Complaints ......................................................................................................... 28 

23. Penalties .................................................................................................................................. 28 

24. Transfers .............................................................................................................................. 30 

25. Successors/Assigns .............................................................................................................. 32 

26. Renewal................................................................................................................................ 32 

27. Revocation and Termination ................................................................................................ 33 

28. Abandonment ....................................................................................................................... 34

DRAFT
ITEM #5: (a.) Franchise Agreement



2 

 

29. Expiration of Agreement...................................................................................................... 34 

30. Changes in Law.................................................................................................................... 34 

31. Amendments ........................................................................................................................ 35 

32. Miscellaneous ...................................................................................................................... 35 

 

  

DRAFT



3 

 

Administrative Issues 
 

1. Statement of Agreement 

 

This Franchise Agreement (the “Franchise”) is made and entered as of __________________, 

2023 between the Town of Lyman, Maine (the “Town” or “Local Franchise Authority”) and 

Spectrum Northeast, LLC LKA Charter Communications (hereinafter “Company” ) a Delaware 

corporation organized and existing in good standing under the laws of the State of Maine. 

 

2. Title 

 

This Franchise Agreement shall be known and cited as the “Lyman, ME Cable Television 

Franchise”.  Within this document it shall also be referred to as “this Franchise” or “the Franchise”. 

 

3. Parties  

 

A. Town 

 

1. Name:  Town of Lyman 

2. Contact:  Board of Selectmen 

3. Mailing Address:  11 So. Waterboro St., Lyman, ME  04002 

4. Telephone  (207) 499-7562 

 

B. Company Local Business Office 

 

1. Name:  Spectrum Northeast, LLC  

2. By:  Charter Communications, Inc. Its Manager 

3. Contact:  Local Franchising 

4. Mailing Address:  400 Old County Road 

Rockland, ME  04841 

   

 

As required by 30-A M.R.S.A. §3010 (1)(B) and 47 CFR §76.309(c)(1)(v), Company shall 

maintain a conveniently located business office that must be open during usual business hours and 

have a listed toll-free telephone number capable of receiving complaints, requests for adjustments 

and service calls.   

 

   

   

 

C. Addresses 

 

Such addresses may be changed by either party upon 30-days prior written notice to the other 

party. 

 

DRAFT



4 

 

4. Notices (Communications) 

 

All notices required to be provided in this Agreement shall be provided in writing via e-mail, 

overnight or certified mail to: 

 

1. Company: to the Company contact at the mailing address in Section 3 

2. Town: to the Town contact at mailing address in Section 3 

 

5. Grant of Authority 

 

Pursuant to the authority in 30-A M.R.S.A. §3008 and 3010 and applicable federal law, and subject 

to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Town of Lyman as the Local Franchise Authority, 

hereby grants a non-exclusive, revocable cable television franchise to the Company authorizing 

and permitting the Company to own, construct, upgrade, install, operate and maintain a Cable 

Television System within the Town of Lyman. 

 

A. Franchise Area 

 

Company is hereby granted by the Town, where it has the right to do so, the right and privilege to 

own, construct, reconstruct, erect, operate and maintain, in the Town of Lyman (herein called the 

“Franchise area” or “Town”), in, upon, along, across, above, over and under the Rights of Way  

now laid out or dedicated, and all extensions thereof and additions thereto, poles, wires, cables, 

antennae, optical fibers, underground conduits, manholes and other television and radio conductors 

and fixtures used for the maintenance and operation of physical facilities located in the Rights of 

Way, including the  Cable System.  In the event of annexation by the Town, any new territory shall 

become part of the area covered upon sixty (60) days advance written notice by the Town to the 

Company. Nothing in this Franchise shall be construed to prohibit the Company from offering any 

service over its Cable System that is not prohibited by federal or State law. 

 

B. Limited Grant 

 

This Franchise is intended to convey rights and interests in accordance with applicable law as to 

those Rights-of-Way in which the Town has an actual interest. It is not a warranty of title or interest 

in any Right-of-Way; it does not provide Company any interest in any particular location within 

the Right-of-Way; and it does not confer rights other than as expressly provided in the grant.  The 

Town reserves any powers, rights, or privileges it now has or may later acquire in the future to use, 

perform work on, or to regulate the use of, and to control the Right-of-Way in a non-discriminatory 

manner as to all users of the rights of way, including without limitation the right to perform work 

on its roadways, Right-of-Way or appurtenant drainage facilities, including but not limited to, 

constructing, altering, removing, paving, widening, grading, or excavating. 

 

C. Non-Exclusivity 

 

Company’s rights and privileges are non-exclusive and the Town expressly reserves the right to 

grant other such franchise agreements in the Town provided, however, that any such additional 

franchise shall not be on terms and conditions that are materially more favorable or less 

DRAFT



5 

 

burdensome than those provided for herein. If any other provider of cable services or video services 

(without regard to the technology used to deliver such services) is lawfully authorized by the Town 

or by any other State or federal governmental entity to provide such services using facilities located 

wholly or partly in the public rights-of-way of the Town, the Town shall ensure that the terms 

applicable to such other provider are no more favorable or less burdensome than those applicable 

to Company.  If the authorization applicable to such other provider contains franchise fee, PEG, 

free service, right-of-way, or other terms imposing monetary or regulatory burdens that are less 

costly or less burdensome than the corresponding obligations imposed upon Company, Town shall, 

within thirty (30) days of a written request from Company, modify this Franchise to ensure that 

the corresponding obligations applicable to Company are no more costly or burdensome than those 

imposed on the new competing provider. Nothing in this Section shall be deemed a waiver of any 

remedies available to Company under federal, state or municipal law, including but not limited to 

Section 625 of the Cable Act, 47 U.S.C. § 545. Notwithstanding the preceding, any additional non 

cable TV services subsequently offered by Company, and that are allowed under state and federal 

law, may not be carried over cable lines/Right of Way until authorized by the Town 

 

D. Eminent Domain not Conferred 

 

No privilege or power of eminent domain is bestowed to Company by the Town by this grant of 

this Franchise. 

 

6. Term  

 

This Franchise shall commence on __________________,2023 (the “Effective Date”), and shall 

expire ten (10) years thereafter, on _________________2033, unless renewed, revoked or 

terminated sooner as herein provided. 

 

7. Governing Law 

 

This Franchise Agreement shall be governed by and be subject to federal law, all applicable FCC 

rules and regulations and the laws and rules of the State of Maine. Company shall be subject to the 

jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Maine in any suit arising out of this Franchise Agreement 

except that this provision shall not limit Company’s right to initiate a proceeding or to remove a 

proceeding to the United States District Court for the District of Maine. 

 

8. Effect of Acceptance 

 

By accepting the Franchise, Company and the Town: (1) acknowledge and accept each party’s 

legal right to execute and enforce the Franchise; and (2) accept and agree to comply with the 

provisions of this Agreement and generally-applicable, non-discriminatory municipal ordinances.  

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT



6 

 

9. Definitions 

 

For the purpose of this Franchise Agreement, the following words, terms, phrases, and their 

derivations shall have the meanings given herein, unless the context clearly requires a different 

meaning.  When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense included the 

future tense, words in the plural number include the singular number, and words in the singular 

number include the plural number.  The word “shall” is always mandatory and not merely 

directory, except where noted.  Where the following definitions differ from or are in conflict with 

definitions in applicable Federal law, it is the express intent that the definition in applicable Federal 

or State law shall take precedence. 

 

 

1. Affiliate or Affiliated Person: An entity which owns or controls, is owned or 

controlled by, or is under common ownership with a Cable Operator. 

 

2. Area Outage: An area outage occurs when cable or equipment is damaged, fails, 

or otherwise malfunctions (collectively called “malfunctions”), and ten or more 

Subscribers receiving services from that section of cable or that equipment receive 

unusable or no service as a result of that malfunction. 

 

3. Basic Cable Service: The service tier transmitted to all Subscribers, which 

includes, (a) the transmission of local television broadcast stations entitled to "must 

carry" status under FCC rules, and (b) any public educational and governmental 

programming required by this Franchise Agreement to be carried on the basic tier 

if required by applicable law. 

 

4. Broadcast: Over-the-air transmission by a radio or television station. 

 

5. Cable Act: Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984 (the “1984 Cable Act”), 

Public Law No. 98-549, 98 Stat. 2779 (1984), as amended by the Cable Television 

Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992 (the “1992 Cable Act”), Public 

Law No. 102-385, 106 Stat. 1460 (1992) and the Telecommunications Act of 1996, 

Public Law No. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56 (1996), as the same may be amended from 

time to time. 

 

6. Cablecast: Programming (exclusive of Broadcast signals) carried on the Cable 

System. 

 

7. Cable Service or Service: The one-way transmission to Subscribers of video 

programming or other programming service, together with Subscriber interaction, 

if any, which is required for the selection or use of such video programming or 

other programming service. 

 

8. Cable System: Shall be defined in accordance with Section 602 of the Cable Act.  

This  means a facility consisting of a set of closed transmission paths and associated 

signal generation, reception, and control equipment that is designated to provide 

DRAFT



7 

cable service which includes video programming and which is provided to multiple 

subscribers within a community, but such term does not include (a) a facility that 

serves only to retransmit the television signals of one or more television broadcast 

stations; (b) a facility that serves subscribers without using any public right-of-way; 

(c) a facility of a common carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the

provisions of Title II of the Communications Act, except that such facility shall be

considered a cable system (other than for purposes of section 621(c) of the Cable

Act) to the extent such facility is used in the transmission of video programming

directly to subscribers unless the extent of such use is solely to provide interactive

on-demand services; or (d) an open video system that complies with section 653 of

the Cable Act , or (e) any facilities of any electric utility used solely for operating

its electric utility systems.

9. Channel or Video Channel: A portion of the electromagnetic frequency spectrum

which is used in a Cable System and which is capable of delivering a television

channel.

10. Company:    Spectrum Northeast, LLC, and any lawful successor(s) to the interest

of such Person or Persons.

11. Contractor or Subcontractor or Agent: Any person or entity who or which

directly or indirectly works for or is under the direction of “The Company” for the

purpose of installation or repair of any portion of the Company’s Cable system in

the Town.

12. Converter: A special tuner or device attached to the Subscriber’s television set that

expands reception capacity and/or unscrambles coded signals distributed over the

Cable System.

13. Designated Access Provider: The entity or entities which may be designated from

time to time by the Town to provide PEG access to the residents of the Town of

Lyman.

14. Downstream Channel: A channel over which Signals travel from the Cable

System Head end to an authorized recipient of programming.

15. Downstream Transmission: Signals traveling from the head-end to the

Subscriber’s location.

16. Drop or Cable Drop: The interconnection between each home or building and the

feeder cable of the Cable System.

17. FCC: The Federal Communications Commission or any successor agency.

18. Feeder Cable: The cable, connected to trunk cable, from which cable television

signal service is distributed to multiple Subscribers, as distinguished from trunk

DRAFT



8 

cable (which distributes cable television service throughout the Franchise area) and 

drop cable. 

19. Franchise Agreement: The non-exclusive Cable Television License to be granted

to Company by this instrument to include the right, privilege and franchise to

construct, operate and maintain a Cable System, and appurtenances or parts thereof,

in the Streets, roads, alleys, and other Public Ways of the Town.

20. Gross Annual Revenue: Revenue of any form or kind received by the Company

from the carriage of  Cable Service including, without limitation: the distribution

of any Cable Service over the System; Basic Service monthly fees; all other Cable

Service fees; fees paid for pay and/or pay-per-view services, installation,

reconnection, downgrade, upgrade and any other similar fees; fees paid for channels

designated for commercial use; converter, remote control and other equipment

rentals, and/or leases and/or sales; all home shopping service(s) revenues; and

advertising revenues.  Gross Annual Revenue shall not include any taxes or fees

other than franchise fees on services furnished by Company imposed directly on

any Subscriber or user by any governmental unit and collected by Company for

such governmental unit.  In the event that an Affiliate is responsible for advertising

on the Cable System in the Town, advertising revenues shall be deemed to be the

pro-rata portion of advertising revenues excluding commissions and/or applicable

agency fees, paid to the Company by an Affiliate for said Affiliate’s use of the

Cable System for the carriage of advertising.  It is the intention of the parties here

to that Gross Annual Revenues shall only include such revenue  of Affiliates and/or

Persons relating to the provision of Cable Service  over the Cable System and not

the gross revenues of any such Affiliate(s) and/or Person(s) itself, where unrelated

to Cable services.  Gross Annual Revenue shall be computed in accordance with

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

21. Head-end: A company owned or leased facility through which Broadcast and

cablecast signals are electronically acquired, translated, or modified for distribution

over the Cable System.

22. Interactive Service: Any service that offers to Subscribers the capability of both

transmitting and receiving Signals of any kind.

23. Institutional Network or I-Net: A communication network which is available

only to municipal and educational institutions for non-commercial purposes.

24. Leased Channel or Leased Access: A video channel which the Licensee shall

make available pursuant to Section 612 of the Cable Act.

25. Town: The Town of Lyman, Maine, or its successor.

26. Origination Point: A connection to the cable system which is provided to allow

for live or recorded programming to be transmitted from that location Upstream to

DRAFT



9 

the Head-end and from there Downstream to the Subscribers over one or more 

access channels, also referred to in this Agreement as a return feed. 

27. Other Programming Service: Information that Company may make available to

all Subscribers generally.

28. Outlet: An interior receptacle, generally mounted in a wall, that connects a

subscriber’s or user’s television set to the Cable System.

29. Parent: When used in reference to Company, any Person holding direct or indirect

ownership or control of thirty percent (30%) or more of the rights of control of

Company; and any Person holding such ownership or control of a Parent to

Company.

30. Pay Cable or Premium Service: Optional programming delivered for a fee or

charge to Subscribers on a per-channel basis, or as a package of services.

31. Pay-Per-View: Programming delivered for a fee or charge to Subscribers on a per-

program or time basis.

32. PEG Facility Transmission Equipment: Equipment which is owned and

maintained by the Company and is associated with the interconnection of PEG

transmission facilities between a PEG facility and the Company’s head end within

the Company’s cable system as well as the formatting of PEG programming for

transmission to the subscriber.

33. PEG Programming: Public, Educational, and Governmental programming that is

of local interest and non-commercial.

34. Person: Any corporation, partnership, limited partnership, association, trust,

organization, other business entity, individual, or group of individuals acting in

concert.

35. Programming or Video Programming: Programming provided by, or generally

considered comparable to programming provided by, a television broadcast station.

36. Public Building: All state accredited public schools, police and fire stations, public

libraries, Town Hall, and other public buildings owned or leased by the Town, but

shall not include buildings owned by the Town but leased to third parties or

buildings such as storage facilities at which government employees are not

regularly stationed.

37. Public Way, Streets or Rights-of-Way: The surface of, and the space above and

below, any public Street, highway, bridge, land path, alley, court, boulevard,

sidewalk, parkway, way, lane, Public Way, drive, circle, or other public right-of-

way, including, but not limited to, public utility easements, dedicated utility strips,

DRAFT



10 

or rights-of-way dedicated for compatible uses and any temporary or permanent 

fixtures or improvements located thereon now or hereafter held by the Town, in the 

Town which shall entitle the Company to the use thereof for the purpose of 

installing, operating, repairing, and maintaining the Cable System.  “Street” or 

“Public Way” shall also mean any easement now or hereafter held by the Town 

within the Town for the purpose of public travel, or for utility or public service use 

dedicated for public travel, or for utility or public service use dedicated for 

compatible uses, and shall include other easements or rights-of-way as shall within 

their proper use and meaning entitle the Company to the use thereof for the 

purposes of installing or transmitting the Company’s Cable Service or other service 

over poles, wires, cables, conductors, ducts, conduits, vaults, manholes, amplifiers, 

appliances, attachments, and other property as may be ordinarily necessary and 

pertinent to the Cable System.  Reference herein to “Public Way” or “Street” shall 

not be construed to be a representation or guarantee by the Town that its property 

rights are sufficient to permit its use for any purpose, or that the Town shall gain or 

be permitted to exercise any rights to use property in the Town greater than those 

already possessed by the Town. 

38. Signal: Any transmission of electromagnetic or optical energy which carries Video

Programming from one location to another.

39. State: The State of Maine.

40. Subscriber: Any person, firm, corporation, or other entity who or which elects to

subscribe to for any purpose, a Cable Service provided by the Company by means

of, or in connection with, the Cable Television System.

41. Subscriber Network: The 750 MHz bi-directional-capable network to be owned

and operated by the Company, over which Cable Service(s) can be transmitted to

Subscribers.

42. Town: The Town of Lyman, Maine or its successor(s).

43. Transfer: The disposal by the Company directly or indirectly, by gift, assignment,

sale, merger, consolidation or otherwise, of the ownership or control of the System

or of the Franchise Agreement to a Person, or a group of Persons acting in concert.

44. Two-way Capability: The ability to transmit Signals upstream and downstream on

the Cable System.

45. Upstream Channel: A channel over which Signals travel from an origination point

to a system distribution point.

46. Upstream Transmission: Signals traveling from origination points on the Cable

System to a cable distribution point.

DRAFT



11 

10. Construction and Maintenance

A. General Provisions

1. Quality

In the construction, reconstruction, maintenance and repair of the Cable

System, Company shall ensure the Cable System meets the rules and

regulations of the Federal Communications Commission.

2. Compliance with Laws and Regulations

All work, including all working conditions and facilities, associated with

the construction, operation, maintenance, repair and removal of the Cable

System shall comply with:

a. All applicable Federal Laws, Rules and Regulations;

b. All applicable State Laws, Rules, Regulations and Codes, including

generally applicable building and electrical codes; and,

c. All generally applicable ordinances, including zoning ordinances, of

the Town.

Company shall obtain all generally applicable permits before commencing 

any construction, reconstruction, repair, maintenance, or other work or 

property use in the public rights of way.  Permits for emergency work shall 

be obtained as soon as possible, but in the event of extreme adverse weather 

or other emergency condition, Company shall submit a permit as soon as 

reasonably practicable.  The grant of permits by the Town shall be timely 

and shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

3. Public Ways Hazards

Any openings or obstructions in Streets or other municipal or public

property made by Company shall be guarded and protected at all times by

the placement of adequate barriers, fences, boardings, or other protective

devices at the sole expense of Company.  During the periods of dusk and

darkness, the protective devices shall be clearly designated by warning

lights.

4. Tree Trimming

Company shall have the authority to trim any trees upon and overhanging

the Town’s Streets or Public Ways to the minimum extent necessary to

DRAFT



12 

prevent the branches of such trees from coming in contact with the wires 

and cables of Company; provided that, except for incidental trimming done 

by Company employees in the course of performing their other duties, any 

tree trimming within the rights of way of the Town’s Streets and Public 

Ways done by Company shall take place only after providing 48-hour notice 

to the Board of Selectmen’s Clerk.  In performing tree trimming, Company 

shall use its best efforts to avoid any unnecessary damage or injury to trees, 

and shall comply in all respects with any Town ordinances governing tree 

trimming. 

5. Restoration of Damage

Company, at its sole expense, shall restore all damage to property, both 

public and private, caused by the construction, operation, maintenance or 

repair of the Cable System, so as to return the damaged property to a 

condition as good as reasonably possible before the damage was done.  Such 

restoration shall be made as soon as practicable after completion of work 

necessitating the restoration.  Absent force majeure, such restoration shall 

be made insofar as reasonably possible within fifteen business days, 

weather permitting, after Company’s receipt of notification from the owner 

of the property so damaged unless otherwise mutually agreed by Company 

and the property owner; provided, that if any such damage involves curbs, 

sidewalks or driveways, the damage shall be repaired to the satisfaction of 

the Town (curbs and sidewalks) or the owner or tenant in possession of the 

property (driveways) within ten business days. Company shall provide the 

Town with immediate notice for any damage Company causes to: Streets, 

water-mains, storm or sanitary sewers, or other public facilities.  If 

Company does not make the repairs to such public facilities, Company shall 

be financially liable for the reasonable cost of any repairs.  If Company fails 

to make such restoration on a timely basis, the Town may fix a reasonable 

time for such restoration and repairs and shall notify Company in writing of 

the restoration and repairs required and time fixed for performance hereof. 

Upon failure of Company to comply within the specified time period, the 

Town may cause proper restoration and repairs to be made and the 

reasonable expense of such work shall be paid by Company upon demand 

by the Town. 

6. Contractors, Subcontractors and Agents

All contractors, subcontractors and agents of Company must be properly 

licensed under all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations 

and carry proper identification.   DRAFT



13 

 

7. Emergency Power 

 

The Cable System shall incorporate equipment capable of providing 

standby powering of the Headend and all Subheadends for a minimum of 

four hours.  

 

B. Cable System Location 

 

1. Map of Physical Facilities 

 

With reasonable advanced notice to Company, the Town shall have the 

right to inspect street maps which identify the location of all trunk and 

feeder runs including underground.  Said maps will be maintained by 

Company and available for review at Company’s office upon request 

without fee or charge. 

 
2. Location of System 

 

Wherever available to Company on reasonable terms and conditions, the 

distribution system shall use the existing facilities of the public utilities. 

Poles shall not be installed for the sole purpose of supporting a portion of 

the distribution system without written justification and approval of the 

Town, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, pursuant to the 

Town’s generally applicable law, ordinances, rules and regulations. 

 

a. Where the cable or wire facilities of the public utilities are installed 

underground at the time of Cable System construction for new 
developments or housing, Company shall install its cable 

distribution system underground. Vaults and pedestals shall be 

suitably landscaped. 

 
b. In all areas where public utility lines are aerially placed, if 

subsequently during the term of this Franchise Agreement such 

utility lines are relocated underground, Company shall similarly 

relocate its cable distribution system underground at Company’s   

expense. However, if other owners of utility lines or other users are 

entitled to reimbursement for such relocation costs and the source of 

funding for said reimbursement allows it, Company shall have its 

relocation costs reimbursed as well. 

 

3. No Interference with Rights of Way 

 

Except during temporary construction, installation, or maintenance 

activities, all lines, cables and distribution structures, and equipment, 

including poles and towers, erected, installed or maintained by Company 

within the Town shall be located so as not to obstruct or interfere with the 

DRAFT



14 

 

proper use of Streets and Public Ways and to cause minimum interference 

with the rights of property owners who abut any of the said Streets and 

Public Ways, and not to interfere with existing public utility installations. 

Company shall not place new poles, towers or other obstructions in Streets 

or Public Ways, or relocate existing poles, towers or other obstructions, 

without first obtaining the Town’s approval, which approval shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. As with all other users of the public rights-of-way, 

Company shall have no vested right in any location, and such construction 

shall be removed by Company at its own cost and expense whenever the 

same restricts or obstructs or interferes with the operation or location or any 

future operation or location of said Streets or Public Ways by the Town for 

a municipal purpose not in competition with Company.  

 

Company shall at all times comply with applicable state laws including but 

not limited to 35-A M.R.S.A. Chapter 25 (e.g., pole location permits) and 

23 M.R.S.A. §2351(excavation permits). 

 

4. Construction by the Town 

 

If at any time during the term of this Franchise Agreement the Town shall 

elect to alter, or change the grade or location of any Street, or shall engage 

in any construction, reconstruction, widening, repairs or other public works 

in, on or under the Streets, Company shall, upon reasonable notice by the 

Town, remove and relocate its poles, wires, cables, conduits, manholes and 

other fixtures (“fixtures”) at its own expense, and in each instance comply 

with the Town’s generally applicable, non-discriminatory standards and 

specifications. If other owners of utility lines or other users are entitled to 

reimbursement of costs for relocations required by this section and the 

source of funding for said reimbursement allows it, Company shall have its 

relocation costs reimbursed as well. 

 

5. No Interference with Other Fixtures 

 

Company shall not place fixtures above or below ground where the same 

will unreasonably interfere with any existing or fully permitted gas, 

electricity, telephone fixtures, water hydrants, or other utility use, and all 

such fixtures placed in or upon any Street shall be so placed as to comply 

with all generally applicable requirements of the Town or other state 

authority. 

 

6. Temporary Relocations 

 

Company shall, on request of any Person holding a permit issued by the 

Town or other appropriate authority, temporarily move its fixtures to permit 

the moving or erection of buildings or other objects, with the expense of 

any such temporary removal to be paid in advance by the Person requesting 

DRAFT



15 

 

same, and Company shall be given reasonable notice to arrange for such 

temporary relocation. Company shall bear any expense to temporarily move 

its fixtures to permit the moving or erection of municipally owned or 

constructed buildings or other objects. 

 

C. Communications 

 

1. Company Notice 

 

Except in an emergency, and except for interruptions of four hours or less, 

Company shall give Subscribers notice, if practical, of any interruption of 

service for purposes of maintenance or repair in accordance with applicable 

law. In an emergency, Company shall give such notice as is reasonable in 

the circumstances. Notice given on the alphanumeric channels on Basic 

Cable Service shall be considered sufficient.  During the rebuild of the 

Cable System, Company shall not be required to provide 24 hour notice of 

any interruption of service if such interruption is the direct result of rebuild 

work.  However, Company shall be required to provide written notification 

to Subscribers and the Town of planned rebuild work schedules and when 

Subscribers may experience service interruptions in excess of four hours.  

Company shall use its best efforts to minimize the length of any service 

outage due to the rebuild.  Company shall promptly notify the Town in 

writing of any significant interruption in the operation of the Cable System. 

For this purpose, a “significant interruption” shall mean any non-weather-

related interruption of more than four hours to more than ten Subscribers, 

caused by construction or other voluntary cause. 

2. Subscriber Requesting Maintenance 

 

Subscribers may request maintenance at the Business Office of Company 

or by calling the toll-free telephone number each of which is required by 

30-A M.R.S.A. §3010(1)(B). 

 

3. Company Responses 

 

Company responses to such requests shall be governed by the applicable 

standards of the Federal Communications Commission and state law. 

 

4. Subscriber-Owned Equipment Excluded 

 

The requirements for maintenance and repair shall not apply to Subscriber 

television or radio receivers or other Subscriber-owned equipment. 

 

11. Operations 

 

A. Performance Standards 

 

DRAFT



16 

 

1. System Design 

 

a. Upon written request, Company shall provide the Town with a 

description of the current system design and operational standards. 

Such description shall include at a minimum, Cable materials, (i.e. 

coaxial cable or fiber), the bandwidth capacity of the system in 

MHz, the channel capacity of the system, bi-directional capability, 

overall measured system reliability and performance in respect to 

FCC requirements and any other relevant standards that the 

Company may wish to describe.  

 

b. If the Company elects to upgrade its system in the Franchise Area, 

the Company shall notify the Town. 

 

2. Operations 

 

The Cable System shall be constructed, operated and maintained to comply 

with all applicable standards of the Federal Communications Commission. 

 

B.    Emergency Alert System 

 

Company shall comply in full with the requirements for an Emergency Alert 

System (EAS) as provided in FCC regulations, 47 CFR Part 11, and with any 

applicable State emergency notification requirements not preempted by Federal 

law. 

 

C. Video Recording Device/Cable Compatibility 

 

Company shall comply with applicable Federal Communication Commission 

standards for compatibility with consumer electronics equipment. 

 

12. Insurance  

 

A. Company Insurance 

 

1. Company shall maintain insurance throughout the term of this Franchise 

and any removal period, with an insurance company authorized to conduct 

business in the State of Maine, protecting as required in this Franchise, 

Company and listing the Town as an additional insured, against any and all 

claims for injury or damage to persons or property, both real and personal, 

caused by the construction, installation, operation, maintenance or removal 

of its Cable System by Company. 

 

The amount of such insurance for liability for damage to property shall be 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) as to any one occurrence.  The amount 

of such insurance for liability for injury or death to any person shall be no 

DRAFT



17 

 

less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) as to any one occurrence.  

The amount of such insurance for excess liability shall be Five Million 

Dollars ($5,000,000.00) in umbrella form.   Policy will contain a provision 

that the Town will be provided thirty (30) days’ written notice prior to any 

cancellation, material modification or non-renewal. 

 

2. Company shall carry insurance against all claims arising out of the operation 

of motor vehicles and general tort or contract liability in the amount of One 

Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). Policy will contain a provision that the 

Town will be provided thirty (30) days’ written notice prior to any 

cancellation, material modification or non-renewal. 

 

3. All insurance coverage, including Workers’ Compensation shall be 

maintained throughout the period of this Franchise.  All expenses incurred 

for said insurance shall be at the sole expense of the Company.  Policy will 

contain a provision that the Town will be provided thirty (30) days’ written 

notice prior to any cancellation, material modification or non-renewal. 

 

4. Company shall provide the Town with certificates of insurance upon 

execution of this Agreement and at any time thereafter upon request. 

 

 

B. Insurance to be provided by Subcontractors  

 

All contractors and subcontractors shall provide adequate insurance coverage. 

 

C. Indemnification of the Town 

 

Company hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the Town, its selectmen, officers, 

agents, employees, members of boards and committees,  from and against all 

expenses, losses and claims, demands, payments, suits, actions, recoveries, and 

judgments of any nature and description, other than as a result of the negligence of 

the Town, including reasonable attorney's fees  resulting from , negligent acts or 

omissions of Company, its agents or employees, in the construction, operation, 

maintenance, repair or service of its Cable System, or by reason of any suit or claim 

for royalties, license fees, or infringement of copyright or patent rights arising from 

Company’s performance under this Franchise Agreement. In the event of the 

commencement of any action against the Town, or its selectmen, officers, agents, 

employees, or members of boards and committees which is within the scope of this 

indemnification, the Town will give prompt notice thereof to Company so that 

Company has sufficient time to retain counsel and prepare a timely response.  

Company will have the right to select and furnish counsel for the defense of any 

such action acceptable to the Town in its reasonable judgment, at no cost or expense 

to the Town and to settle or compromise any claims and the Town shall cooperate 

fully.  The Town’s failure to give timely notice to Company of the commencement 

of any such action shall not relieve Company of its obligations under this section 

DRAFT



18 

 

unless such failure to give timely notice causes actual prejudice to Company's 

ability to defend any such claim. Except for settlements involving only the payment 

of money, no settlement which creates an obligation for the Town, or any such 

action, or any claim therein, shall be made by Company or by counsel selected by 

Company without the approval of the Town, which approval shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

 .   

D. Indemnification of Company 

 

The Town will indemnify Company for any and all claims arising out of 

programming of PEG channels, except where Company or its agents or employees 

provided the programming.   

 
E. Municipal Immunities 

 
The provisions of this section, including the indemnity provisions in sub-sections 

C and D and the procurement by Company of insurance policies meeting the 

requirements of this section 12, shall not be interpreted or construed to effect any 

waiver, suspension, release or alteration of or to any and all immunity or other 

immunities or damage limits as may be available to the Town by law. 

 

13. Performance Bond 

 

A. Performance Bond  

 

Company shall obtain and maintain during the term of this Franchise Agreement, 

at its sole cost and expense, and file with Town, an irrevocable performance bond, 

running to the Town, with a surety authorized to do business as a surety in the State 

of Maine, to guarantee the faithful performance by Company of all of its obligations 

under this Franchise Agreement.  Such performance bond shall be in the amount of 

at least twenty five thousand ($25,000.00) dollars.  

 

B. Conditions 

 

The performance bond shall provide, but not be limited to, the following conditions.  

There shall be recoverable by the Town, jointly and severally from the principal 

and surety, subject to the provisions in Section 23(C), within 30 days after written 

request by the Town, any and all penalties due to the Town and any and all damages, 

losses, costs and expenses suffered or incurred by the Town resulting from the 

failure of Company to comply with the material provisions of this Franchise 

Agreement.  Such losses, costs and expenses shall include, but not be limited to, 

reasonable attorney’s fees and other legal, consulting and auditing expenses. Not 

less than thirty days’ prior notice to the Town shall be provided of Company’s or 

the surety’s intention to cancel, materially change, or not to renew the performance 

bond. 

 

DRAFT



19 

 

C. Forfeiture 

 

Subject to the provisions in Section 23C, the total amount of the bond or security 

fund shall be forfeited in favor of the Town in the event Company fails to complete 

any construction or rebuild obligations or breaches any material provision of this 

Franchise Agreement. Neither the provisions of this Section, nor any bonds 

accepted by the Town pursuant hereto, nor any damage recovered by the Town 

there under, shall be construed to excuse unfaithful performance by the Company 

or limit the liability of the Company under this Franchise Agreement for damages, 

either to the full amount of the bond or otherwise. 

 

D. Replenishment 

 

In the event that any portion of the performance bond is forfeited or withdrawn for 

any reason, Company shall be required to post an additional bond in an amount 

equal to the forfeiture within 30 days of the date of the forfeiture or withdrawal. 

Failure to post an additional bond on a timely basis shall constitute a violation of a 

material provision of this Franchise Agreement within the meaning of Section 23 

hereof. 

 

E. Town Rights 

 

The rights reserved to the Town with respect to the Performance Bond are in 

addition to all other rights of the Town, whether reserved by this Franchise 

Agreement or authorized by law, and no action, proceeding or exercise of a right 

with respect to such sections shall affect any other rights the Town may have. 

 

14. Records and Reports 

 

A. Availability of Records to the Town 

 

Upon reasonable written notice to the Company, the Town shall have the right to 

inspect Company’s books and records during Normal Business Hours and on a non-

disruptive basis, as are reasonably necessary to ensure compliance with the material 

terms of this Franchise, including any federal, state, laws or regulations or generally 

applicable ordinances referenced herein. Records should be produced as soon as 

reasonably practicable, unless for good cause Company responds that a longer 

amount of time will be needed.  Such written notice from the Town shall 

specifically reference the section or subsection of the Franchise which is under 

review, so that Company may organize the necessary books and records for 

appropriate access by the Town.  Company shall not be required to maintain any 

books and records for Franchise compliance purposes longer than three (3) years or 

as required by law.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, 

Company shall not be required to disclose information that it reasonably deems to 

be proprietary or confidential in nature, nor disclose any of its books and records 

not relating to the provision of Cable Service in the Franchise Area.    

DRAFT



20 

 

Company shall not be required to provide Subscriber information in violation of 

Section 631 of the Communications Act, and 47 USC §551, or any other 

information that it is prohibited by law from disclosure to third parties.  

 

 

Company shall at all times after the Effective Date maintain records in accordance 

with state and federal law, including, without limitation records of written 

complaints from subscribers in accordance with 30-A MRSA §3010 (4), as  may 

be amended. 

 

 

The Town reserves its right to copy books and records as allowed under FCC 

regulation. 

 

B. Annual Report 

 

Upon written request from the Town, Company shall provide to the Town a 

summary of the Company’s activities in the Town for the previous calendar year 

including a summary of: 

 

1. Total number of cable subscribers; 

 

2. Total miles of new cable plant installed; 

 

3. Total number of service calls indicating number of dispatches and number 

repaired; 

 

4. Listing of all charges and fees for cable or cable-related services; 

 

5. All area outages, including date and duration; 

 

6. The total revenues upon which the franchise fee is paid, broken down by 

major category; 

 

7. The total franchise fee for the year; 

 

8. Equipment or equivalent funding provided to the PEG channels(s) (if any); 

 

9. Other information Company chooses to include. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT



21 

 

C. Charges for Audits or Tests 

 

If an inspection or audit of Company’s records shows that Company underpaid the 

franchise fee by four percent or more for any payment period, Company shall 

reimburse the Town for all reasonable costs including expert fees arising from the 

inspection or audit, and any additional inspection or audit until it is determined 

Company is in full compliance.  In addition, except as federal law prevents the 

Town from enforcing any standards, if it is determined that Company has not 

materially complied with FCC standards, the Town shall have the right to charge 

all costs arising from these tests, including expert fees, to Company until it is 

determined that Company is in full compliance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 

obligation to pay the Town’s costs for tests of the performance of the Cable System 

shall only arise if the Town’s test is (1) a test of an area where Company has 

represented that it has corrected a problem, and the problem was not in fact 

corrected; (2) a second test of an area by the Town, where Company had been 

notified of the problem and been given an opportunity to cure it; or (3) where 

Company challenged the validity of a Town test, and the Town agrees to retest, and 

the re-test confirms the validity of the initial Town test. These charges are incidental 

to the enforcement of the Franchise; they do not limit any right the Town may have 

to exercise any other remedy. 

 

Municipal Benefits 
 

15. Franchise Fee 

 

Company shall provide a Franchise Fee to the Town or its designee, equal to five 

percent (5%) of Company’s Gross Annual Revenues in the Town.  Upon ninety 

(90) days’ notice to the Company, the Town, by action of its Board of Selectmen, 

may increase or decrease the Franchise Fee, up to a maximum of five percent (5%) 

of Company’s Gross Annual Revenues.   

 

A. Payment 

 

Company shall pay the Franchise Fee to the Town on a quarterly basis, no later than 

forty-five (45) days after the end of the calendar quarter for which payment is made. 

The payment for the last quarter of the last year of the term of this Franchise shall 

be due and payable sixty (60) days after the end of that quarter.  Upon request, 

Company shall provide a statement showing the basis for the payment, including a 

breakdown by category (e.g., basic service, home shopping channels, advertising) 

number of subscribers and source of Gross Annual Revenues for the quarter..  

 

Due Date  Quarter  

 May 15  First (January 1 – March 31) 

 August 15  Second (April 1 – June 30) 

 November 15  Third (July 1 – September 30) 

 February 15  Fourth (October 1 – December 31) 

DRAFT



22 

 

 

  

B. Late Payments 

 

In the event that the fees herein required are not tendered on or before the dates fixed 

in Section 15A above, interest shall accrue on any and all overdue franchise fees at the 

rate of two percent over prime interest rate published in the Wall Street Journal per 

annum..  

 

C. Acceptance of Payment 

 

Acceptance of payment by the Town shall not be construed as accord that the amount 

paid is the correct amount.  The Town reserves its rights to inspect relevant books and 

seek any underpayments due.  If the Town has not begun process to challenge or audit 

payment of franchise fee within 36 months of receipt of final annual payment, and 

breakdowns provided pursuant to subsection A have been provided,  payment is 

deemed accurate.  . 

 

16. Public, Educational and Governmental Access (PEG)  

 

A. Use of PEG Access Channel 

 

Channel capacity for public, educational and governmental (“PEG”) access shall 

be provided in accordance with federal law, 47 USC §531 and §546  as further set 

forth below.   

 

B. Channel 

 

Company shall continue to provide the Town with one shared channel for public, 

educational and governmental (“PEG”) access programming.  Said PEG channel 

shall be located on the Company’s basic tier of service. To facilitate live 

programming within the Town of Lyman, subject to applicable law, Company shall 

provide a video and audio origination point at the Town Office located at 11 South 

Waterboro Road, Lyman Maine.  

 

 

  

C. Exclusive Use, Channel Designations and Interconnectivity 

 

1. Town, or its designee(s), shall have the exclusive use of the PEG Access 

Channel.  Use of PEG Access Channel shall be for the exclusive benefit of 

Company’s Subscribers and for local interest, non-commercial purposes 

and subject to such rules as the Town, or its designee(s), may adopt. 

 DRAFT



23 

2. Except, as permitted by applicable law, there shall be no charge by

Company for the use of the PEG Access Channels. Company shall comply

with MRSA 3010 §5-A and B.

3. Company shall not appropriate PEG programming for use by company on

any other channel except PEG channels without the consent of the

originating PEG producer.

4. Subject to applicable law, and unless otherwise agreed to by the parties,

PEG channels shall be carried on the basic tier. Company shall make good

faith efforts to include appropriate designation of the Town’s PEG Access

Channels on channel cards and channel listings provided to Subscribers in

a manner comparable to which it identifies other Channels.  This provision

does not obligate Company to list PEG programming content on said

channel cards and channel listings. If Channels are selected by a viewer

through a menu system, Company shall display the Town’s PEG Access

Channels designation in a similar manner as other channels. Within 90 days

of request by the Town, Company shall install the video return feed

connection and transmission equipment from the Lyman Town Hall to the

Company’s Head End, at Company’s expense, to permit the transmission of

the PEG programming on the PEG channel to (at a minimum) the cable

subscribers in the Town of Lyman.  In the event of a relocation of the

facilities, Company shall provide a connection to the relocated facility

under the terms of a contract with the commercial services department.

5. If a PEG channel is relocated by Company, company shall reimburse the

Town of Lyman for out-of-pocket documented costs associated with

changing logos, letterhead, business cards etc. to reflect a new channel

number not to exceed $200.00. Town and Company may also negotiate the

promotion of this change. Company will provide the Town with at least 30

day notice of any relocation of any PEG channel.

D. PEG Facilities and Equipment Support:

1. Within sixty (60) days of completion of the video return feed connection

outlined in paragraph 6 above and written request to Company by Grantor,

Company shall provide to the Town of Lyman a PEG capital grant in the

amount of $32,558 to be utilized by the Town of Lyman to purchase Public

Educational and Governmental access facilities and equipment determined by

the parties during renewal discussions.  Such amount, to the extent utilized in

accordance with the provisions of federal law, are in addition to and may not be

counted as an offset from any Franchise Fee imposed on Company.  On or

before February 1st of each year, the City shall provide Company with an

itemized accounting for the preceding calendar year of the distribution and

utilization of the PEG Grant.

DRAFT



24 

 

 

2. With respect to any new or existing PEG channel as defined in this franchise 

and subject to 30-A MRSA §3010 (5), and 47 U.S.C. §522 Definitions, the 

equipment associated with the interconnection of PEG transmission facilities 

between a PEG facility and the Company’s head end within the Company’s 

cable system as well as the formatting of PEG programming for transmission 

to the subscriber is considered “PEG facility or equipment” and the costs 

thereof shall be borne by the Company. 

 

3. An incumbent Company that is required to pay a PEG fee, grant or any similar 

payment to the Municipality under the terms of this franchise agreement shall 

continue to make such payments in full to the Municipality if this franchise 

agreement expires or Company chooses not to seek a renewal or voluntarily 

terminates it’s local franchise agreement but continues to offer cable service 

within the Municipality. 

 

E. Minimum PEG Signal Quality and Transmission Standards  

 

The PEG access signal and channel shall meet FCC Technical Standards. All 

PEG Channels shall be provided to subscribers without conversion to a lower 

resolution than supplied to Company by the Town. The PEG access signal and 

channel capacity shall be of similar quality and functionality to that offered on 

adjacent channels. Company shall not take any actions that alter or otherwise 

adversely affect the functionality, formatting or transmission of PEG 

programming that result in deterioration of the functionality of PEG signals, the 

transmission of PEG programming, the picture quality, or the absence of closed 

captions and Secondary Audio Programming as compared to adjacent channels. 

Company shall maintain and upgrade the video return feed connection and PEG 

transmission equipment from the Lyman Town Hall to the PEG Access 

provider to permit the transmission of HD PEG programming on the PEG 

channel to (at a minimum) the cable subscribers in the Town of Lyman. .   

 

 

 

F. PEG Promotion 

 

In the event that the Company implements local advertising sales on Channels received 

by Subscribers within the Town, the Town or its designee(s) may want to seek time for 

non-commercial PEG Access program or service promotional spots on said channels.  

Nothing in this section shall be construed to require the Company to provide access to 

promotional spots at no cost to the Town or its designee(s). 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT



25 

 

17. Build-out 

 

A. Area To Be Served 

 

1. Pursuant to MRSA §3008, §5-B, Company shall make Cable Service 

available to every residential dwelling unit within the Town where the 

minimum density is at least fifteen  (15) residences per linear strand mile of 

aerial cable (and Company shall not impose any contract pre-conditions for 

such expansion), providing however, that any plant extension is measured 

from the  Company’s closest technologically feasible tie-in point that is 

delivering Cable Service as of the date of such request for service and 

Company is able to obtain from property owners any necessary easements 

and/or permits on terms and conditions acceptable to Company.  Subject to 

the density requirement, Company shall offer Cable Service at standard 

installation rates to all new homes or previously unserved homes located 

within 125 aerial feet of Company’s point of connection to its existing 

distribution system.  For non-Standard Installations (those exceeding 125 

aerial feet or underground) Company shall, upon receipt of payment and 

pending any identified construction or other issues (e.g., make ready, 

weather) offer said service within thirty (30) days of a Subscriber requesting 

such for aerial installations and sixty (60) days of a Subscriber requesting 

such for underground installations. 

 

2. Company shall have the right, but not the obligation, to extend the Cable 

System into any portion of the Town where another operator is providing 

Cable Service or into any annexed area which is not contiguous to the 

Service Area.  Company shall not be obligated to provide service to any 

area where it is financially or technically infeasible to do so.  Company at 

its discretion may make Cable Service available to businesses within the 

Service Area.   

 

3. Provided Company has at least ninety (90) days’ prior written notice 

concerning the opening of residential subdivision trenching, or of the 

installation of conduit for the location of utilities, and the density 

requirements outlined above are met, it shall install its cable in such 

trenching or conduits or may seek permission to utilize alternative trenching 

or conduits within a comparable time frame.  The Town, or its designee, 

shall exercise reasonable efforts to have the Planning Board and developers 

give timely written notice of trenching and underground construction to 

Company.  Developer shall be responsible for the digging and back-filling 

of all trenches. 

 

18. Cable Service to Municipal Buildings 

 

Upon written request from the Town, Company will offer, without charge, one outlet of 

and equipment for, Basic Cable Service to the locations listed in Exhibit A, provided that 

DRAFT



26 

 

the locations are located up to 125 feet from Company’s existing distribution system and 

capable of an aerial installation.  The provision of these drops, to the extent utilized in 

accordance with the provisions of federal law, may not be counted as an offset from any 

Franchise Fee imposed on Company.  

 

Consumer Issues 
 

19. Rates & Services 

 

A. Prices and Charges 

 

1. All rates, fees, charges, deposits and associated terms and conditions to be 

imposed by Company for any Cable Service as of the Effective Date shall 

be in accordance with all applicable FCC’s rate regulations.  Before any 

new or modified rate, fee, or charge is imposed, Company shall follow the 

applicable FCC and State notice requirements and rules and notify affected 

Subscribers, which notice may be by any means permitted under applicable 

law.  Nothing in this Franchise shall be construed to prohibit the reduction 

or waiver of charges in conjunction with promotional campaigns for the 

purpose of attracting or retaining Subscribers. 

 

2. Company shall annually publish and provide to town upon written request 

and to each subscriber or potential subscriber who so requests, a statement 

of its then established standard installation rate. Subject to applicable 

federal and state law, information concerning billing and collection 

procedures, including dispute resolution, procedures for ordering changes 

in, or termination of services, and company’s discontinuation policies and 

procedures shall be provided to each subscriber at least annually.  

 

3. The Town acknowledges that certain costs of Public, Educational and 

Governmental (“PEG”) Access and other Franchise imposed costs, may be 

passed through to Subscribers in accordance with federal law. 

 

B. Basic Cable Service 

 

Company shall make available a Basic Cable Service tier to all subscribers to the 

extent required by 47 USC §534 and applicable regulations, including 76.1618 of 

the FCC Rules and Regulations, and shall provide notice of the basic tier pursuant 

to 30-A M.R.S.A. §3010. 

 

C. Programming 

 

Pursuant to federal law, all Video Programming decisions, excluding PEG Access 

Programming, are at the sole discretion of Company, except that pursuant to 47 

USC §544(b)(2) (B) and (h) and 47 CFR §76.1603 the Town may require “broad 

categories” of programming. 

DRAFT



27 

 

 

 

 

20. Rights of Individuals 

 

A. Customer Service 

 

1. Company shall comply with all customer service federal laws, regulations of the 

FCC and state laws as they may be amended from time to time, including without 

limitation 47 C.F.R. §§ 76.309 (Customer Service Obligations) as may be 

amended. 
 

 

 

 

B. Protection of Subscriber Privacy 

 

Company shall comply with all applicable federal and state Subscriber privacy laws and 

regulations, including 47 USC §551 and regulations adopted pursuant thereto and 30-A M.R.S.A. 

§3010. 

 

C. Employee Identification Cards 

 

All of Company’s employees, and subcontractors, including repair and sales 

personnel, entering private property shall be required to display an identification 

card issued or approved by Company indicating that employee or subcontractor is 

working on behalf of Company. 

 

  

D. Privacy Written Notice 

 

At the time of entering into an agreement to provide any Cable Service or other service 

to a Subscriber, and annually thereafter to all Cable System Subscribers, the Company 

shall provide Subscribers with written notice, as required by Section 631(a)(1) of the 

Cable Act, (47 USC §551) which, at a minimum, clearly and conspicuously explains 

the Company’s practices regarding the collection, retention, uses, and dissemination 

of personal subscriber information, and describing the Company’s policy for the 

protection of subscriber privacy. 

 

E. Monitoring 

 

Company may only monitor customer accounts consistent with applicable federal and 

state law. 

  

 

 

DRAFT



28 

21. Unauthorized Connections/Continuity of Service

It shall be the right of all Subscribers to receive Cable Service insofar as their financial 

and other obligations to the Company are honored, provided that the Company shall 

have no obligation to provide Cable Service to any Person who, or which the 

Company has a reasonable basis to believe, is using an unauthorized Converter or is 

otherwise obtaining Cable Service without required payment thereof or who threatens 

Company’s employees or damages Company’s equipment. The Company shall 

ensure that all Subscribers receive continuous, uninterrupted Service, except for 

necessary Service interruptions. To the extent required by applicable law, when 

necessary non-routine Service interruptions in excess of four hours can be anticipated, 

the Company shall notify Subscribers of such interruption(s) in advance.  

22. Subscriber Complaints

A. Dispute Resolution

Subject to applicable law, the Company shall establish a procedure for resolution of

Complaints by Subscribers.  Said procedure shall at a minimum include the provisions

of 30-A M.R.S.A. §3010.

B. Complaint Policy/Investigation

Company shall establish a procedure for resolution of Complaints by Subscribers.

Said procedure shall at a minimum include the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. §3010..

Upon reasonable notice, the Company shall expeditiously investigate and resolve all

Complaints regarding the quality of Service, equipment malfunctions and similar

matters. In the event that a Subscriber is aggrieved, the Town or its designee(s) shall

be responsible for receiving and acting upon such Subscriber complaints and/or

inquiries and the Company shall work in good faith to resolve such complaints.

23. Liquidated Damages

A. Right to Assess Liquidated Damages

Because Charter’s failure to comply with material terms of this Agreement may result in 

harm to the Town, and because it will be difficult to measure the extent of such injury, the 

Town may assess liquidated damages against Company in the amount of Fifty Dollars 

($50.00) per day for each day the violation continues, provided Charter has had notice and 

an opportunity to cure in accordance with section 23C and the Town is not pursuing other 

penalties or remedies.  The Town shall provide Company with written notice that it intends 

to assess liquidated damages as a remedy.  Such damages shall be an exclusive remedy for 

the time period in which they are assessed, provided, however, they shall not be a substitute 

DRAFT



29 

 

for specific performance by Company or legal action by the Town once assessment of 

liquidated damages ceases, but shall be in addition to such specific performance or legal 

action.  Nothing herein is intended to allow duplicative recovery from or payments by 

Company or its surety. 

The first day for which liquidated damages may be assessed, if there has been no cure after 

the end of the applicable cure period, shall be the date after the end of the applicable cure 

period, including any extension of the cure period granted by the Town.  Liquidated 

damages may not be assessed for a time period exceeding fifty (50) days per violation.  The 

Town may commence revocation proceedings and/or initiate an action in law or equity in 

a court of competent jurisdiction after the assessment of liquidated damages or in lieu of 

liquidated damages. 

The amount of all liquidated damages per annum shall not exceed twenty five thousand 

dollars ($25,000) in the aggregate.  With respect to liquidated damages, all similar 

violations or failures from the same factual events affecting multiple Subscribers shall be 

assessed as a single violation, and a violation or failure may only be assessed under any 

one material term. 

 

1. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Town reserves all rights to seek other 

remedies at law and equity for breach of this Agreement, including but not 

limited to injunctive relief, and the Town shall be entitled to reasonable 

attorney’s fees and costs incurred in the enforcement of this Agreement.  

 

B. Procedure for Liquidated Damages 

 

Before the Town may assess any liquidated damages under this Franchise 

Agreement: 

1. The Town shall notify the Company, in writing, of the alleged failure or 

material violation, which notice shall specify the alleged failure or violation 

with reasonable particularity. 

 

2. The Company shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of the notice or 

such longer period as the Town may specify in such notice, either cure the 

alleged failure or violation or, in a written response to the Town’s Manager 

or Municipal Officers, either present facts and arguments in refutation or 

excuse of such alleged failure or violation or state that the alleged failure or 

violation will be cured and set forth the method and time schedule for 

accomplishing such cure. 

3. Unless the Selectmen determine that the matter has been resolved, the 

Company’s response shall be submitted to the Municipal Officers, to 

schedule a public hearing at which the Municipal Officers shall determine 

(i) whether a failure or violation has occurred; (ii) whether such failure or 

violation is excusable; and (iii) whether such failure or violation has been 

or will be cured by the Town; and (iv) the appropriate remedy for the failure 

or violation. 

 

DRAFT



30 

 

4. The Town shall provide thirty (30) days’ written notice of the public hearing 

to the Company.  During the public hearing, Company and the Town or 

complainants shall have the right to appear and be heard, including the 

opportunity to present evidence, question witnesses, if any, and the hearing 

shall follow the procedures set forth for public hearings. If the Municipal 

Officers determine that such failure has not occurred, or that such failure 

either has been or will be cured in a manner and in accordance with a 

reasonable schedule satisfactory to the Municipal Officers or that the failure 

is excusable, such determination shall conclude the matter, unless Company 

fails to comply with the schedule for cure. 

 

5. Company shall have the right to appeal any adverse ruling to a court of 

competent jurisdiction. 

 

 

 

24. Transfers 

 

A. Company’s Right to Transfer 

 

Neither this Franchise Agreement, nor any rights or obligations of the Company in 

or pursuant to this Franchise Agreement or the Cable System shall be transferred in 

part or as a whole, by assignment, trust, lease, sublease, and is not to be sold, 

transferred, leased, assigned, or disposed of in part or as a whole, either by forced 

sale, merger, consolidation, or otherwise, nor shall title thereto, either legal or 

equitable, or any right or interest therein, pass to or vest in any Person, nor shall 

any change in control of the Company or the Cable System occur, either by any act 

of the Company or by any parent company of the Company, by operation of law or 

otherwise, in each such case without the prior consent of the Town, which consent 

shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. and which shall be expressed in 

writing,  subject to reasonable and lawful conditions, including, but not limited to, 

curing any Franchise non-compliance.  Any assignment or transfer without such 

prior written consent or without “deemed consent” under applicable federal law 

shall constitute a violation of a material provision of any this Franchise Agreement. 

Notwithstanding the preceding the Town may withhold consent until such time as 

the proposed successor to Company or transferee herein has reasonably established 

to the Town’s satisfaction that such party has financial and technical capacity equal 

to or greater than Company.  

No consent will be required for a transfer in trust, mortgage or hypothecation to 

secure an indebtedness, provided that such transaction will not in any respect 

prevent the Company or any successor from complying with all of its obligations 

under this Franchise Agreement, but the exercise of any right to foreclose or seize 

such pledged assets shall be subject to the provisions of this paragraph.  No transfer 

of control will be deemed to have taken place if the transfer is to an entity 

controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Company provided 

DRAFT



31 

 

the transfer does not involve a change in the management or day to day operations 

of the Company. 

 

B. Town’s Right to Approve 

 

Pursuant to 47 USC §537, the Town, and subsection A above, as Local Franchise 

Authority, reserves its right to approve a Franchise Transfer.   Such approval shall 

not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

For purposes of this Section, any sale, assignment or any other disposition of a fifty  

percent (50%) ownership interest of the Company or parent company of the 

Company to any one Person or group of Persons acting in concert, in one 

transaction or a series of related transactions, shall be deemed to be a change of 

control of the Franchisee.  The word “control” as used in this section is not limited 

to major stockholders but includes actual working control in whatever manner 

exercised.  A transfer or assignment of a Franchise or control thereof between 

entities under common control, between affiliated companies, or between parent 

and subsidiary corporations, shall not constitute a transfer or assignment of a 

Franchise or control thereof.  An “affiliated company” is any person or entity that 

directly or indirectly or through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled 

by, or is under common control with another person or entity. 

 

 

C. Notice to Town 

 

Company shall provide to the Town Notice of the proposed transfer.  The contents 

of the Notice shall include: 

 

1. An original and three (3) copies of its FCC Form 394 (or such other or successor 

form used to request consent to any such Transfer or assignment), which form 

shall fully describe the action or proposed action and clearly state the basis on 

which the Transfer or assignment should be approved..  The request for 

approval of Transfer or assignment shall also contain all reasonably appropriate 

documentation and such additional information as the Town may reasonably 

require, so it may adequately investigate, review and determine if the proposed 

successor entity is technically and financially able to complete the terms of the 

Franchise Agreement provided that to the extent the Town requests additional 

information other than as described in FCC Form 394, the Town shall issue 

such request to the Company within thirty (30) days of receipt of the 

application, and the Company shall respond to such requests for additional 

information within thirty (30) days.  The Transfer or assignment form shall be 

signed by the Company and by the proposed transferee or by its representative, 

evidence of whose authority shall be submitted with such petition; and  

 

2. Certification by transferee that it will accept the provisions of this Franchise 

Agreement for the remainder of the Franchise Term. 

DRAFT



32 

 

 

 

D. Time to Review 

 

Subject to applicable federal law, the Town will have 120 days from receipt of the 

Notice to take action on the request for transfer.  The Town need not, but may, act 

to approve the transfer. If the Town does not act within 120 days of receipt of 

Notice, the transfer shall be deemed approved. 

 

 E.  Public Hearing 

 

The Town may conduct a public hearing on the proposed transfer no later than 90 

days after the receipt of the notice of transfer. 

 

For purposes of determining whether it shall consent to any such change of control 

and ownership, the Town shall inquire into the legal, financial, and technical 

qualifications of the prospective controlling or owning Person including, but not 

limited to, such Person's cable-related experience, and any other factors that the 

Municipal Officers deem in the public interest or as allowed by law.  

  

 

F. Transferee Obligations 

 

Any proposed controlling or owning Person or transferee approved by the Town 

shall be subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in the Franchise 

Agreement, including curing any Franchise non-compliance. 

  

 

G.  No Waiver or Release 

 

The consent or approval of the Town to any Transfer of the Cable System or this 

Franchise Agreement granted to the Company shall not constitute a waiver or 

release of the rights of the Town in, and shall by its terms be expressly subordinate 

to, the terms and conditions of this Franchise Agreement. 

 

25. Successors/Assigns 

 

The obligations of this Franchise apply to any and all successors and assigns of the 

Company, unless the Town expressly and in writing agrees to release the successors and 

assigns from this Franchise or any portion thereof. 

 

26. Renewal 

 

This Franchise may be renewed by the parties in accordance with state and federal law.     

 

 

DRAFT



33 

 

27. Revocation and Termination 

 

A. Right to Revoke or Terminate 

 

In addition to all other rights and powers of the Town by virtue of this Franchise 

Agreement and after notice and opportunity to cure pursuant to section 27B, the 

Town may revoke this Franchise Agreement and all rights and privileges of 

Company hereunder in the event Company either: 

 

1. Violates one or more material provision of this Franchise Agreement  where 

such violation remains uncured for a period of ninety days following written 

notice to Company by the Town that such violation is deemed to exist unless 

cure is not feasible in such time period in which event the parties shall meet 

and agree to a cure schedule; 

 

2. Practices any fraud or deceit upon the Town; or 
 

3. Fails to provide or maintain in full force and effect, the insurance coverages  
and the performance bond as required by the terms of this Franchise 

Agreement, where such violation remains uncured for a period of thirty (30) 

days or  

 

4. Arbitrarily ceases to provide service over the Cable System or fails to 

restore service after ninety-six (96) consecutive hours of interrupted service 

except in cases of force majeure or when approval of such interruption is 

obtained from the Town. 

 

B. Procedures to Revoke or Terminate 

 

The Town shall follow the following procedures in revoking a franchise: 

 

1. The Town shall provide to Company the Town’s notice of intention to 

revoke this Franchise.  The written notice shall be sent by certified or 

overnight mail and shall describe in reasonable detail the specific violations 

alleged to have occurred; 

 

2. Company shall have ninety (90) days from receipt of notice to either correct 

the alleged violation, or dispute the Town’s allegations.  In the event that 

by nature of the alleged violation, such violation cannot be cured within 

such ninety (90) day period, the parties shall meet and agree to a cure 

schedule; 

 

3. If Company disputes the Town’s allegations, the Town shall review the 

dispute and make its determination as to whether a violation has occurred; 

 

4. If the Town continues to maintain that a violation did occur, the Town shall 

notify Company in writing.  Company shall then either remedy the violation 

DRAFT



34 

 

within ninety (90) days or notify the Town in writing that Company 

continues to dispute the allegations; 

 

5. Upon Company’s failure to remedy the violation within the time period 

prescribed or upon receipt of Company’s written position pursuant to 

subsection 4, Town may revoke this Franchise Agreement by providing 

Company written notice of revocation or by following the procedure 

outlined in Section C below. 

 

C. Public Hearing 

 

The Town shall conduct a public hearing on the revocation.  Such hearing shall 

provide the Company with due process, including the right to participate in the 

hearing, present evidence, and examine witnesses. The Town shall issue a written 

determination of its findings based solely on the evidence presented at the hearing 

and applicable law.  Such public hearing must take place no less than 30 days prior 

to the decision to revoke. 

 

D. Judicial Review 

 

Company shall have the right to seek judicial review of the Town’s determination 

to revoke  

 

28. Abandonment 

 

If company shall cease providing service in the Town, it shall do so pursuant to 30-A 

M.R.S.A. §3008(3)(B., the Company shall remove all of its supporting structures, poles, 

transmission and distribution systems, and other appurtenances from the Public Ways and 

shall restore the areas to their original condition as is reasonably possible and as soon as 

reasonably possible.  If such removal is not complete within six (6) months of such end of 

service, the Town may deem any property not removed as having been abandoned.  Upon 

written request of the Company, the Town may waive this requirement of removal for good 

cause shown. 

 

29. Expiration of Agreement 

 

Upon the expiration and non-renewal, or revocation of this Franchise Agreement and 

exhaustion of all judicial appeals, the Cable System shall be disposed of according to 47 

USC §546 and this Franchise Agreement. 

 

30. Changes in Law 

 

In the event a federal or state law, regulation or decision by a court of competent jurisdiction 

renders a provision in this Franchise Agreement void or otherwise unenforceable, the provision 

shall be considered preempted.  This preemption will last for as long as the law, regulation or 

decision is effective; if the law, regulation or decision is subsequently repealed, rescinded, 

DRAFT



35 

 

amended, voided, overturned or otherwise changed so that the preemption is nullified, the 

provision shall thereupon return to full force and effect as provided by such proceeding and shall 

be binding and enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof. 

 

31. Amendments 

 

This Franchise Agreement may be amended in the future by written agreement of both 

parties to reflect changed circumstances, including changes in federal or state law.  This 

Franchise Agreement shall not be amended or modified except by written agreement 

executed in the same manner as this Franchise Agreement.  Where applicable, the 

amendment shall be consistent with the provisions of 47 USC §545.   

 

32. Subject to Approval 

 

 This Franchise Agreement is contingent upon the Board of Selectmen duly adopting the 

terms contained herein pursuant to 30-A M.R.S. § 3008(2) and (5). 

 

33. Miscellaneous 

 

A. Force Majeure 

 

The Parties shall not be responsible for any delay or failure to perform their 

obligations under this Franchise Agreement if doing so is prevented by Act of God, 

flood, storm, fire, explosions, strikes, riots, wars whether or not declared, 

insurrections, epidemics, work delays caused by failure of utility providers to 

service, maintain or monitor their utility poles to which Company’s Cable System 

is attached, unavailability of materials and/or qualified labor to perform the work 

necessary, or any law, rule or act of any court of competent jurisdiction or 

instrumentality of government or any cause or event beyond the control of the Town 

or the Company. 

 

B. Severability 

 

If any provision of this Franchise Agreement is held by any court or Federal or 

State agency of competent jurisdiction to be invalid as conflicting with any Federal 

or State law, rule or regulation now or hereafter in effect, or is held by such court 

or agency to be modified in any way in order to conform to the requirements of any 

such law, rule or regulation, said provision shall be considered a separate, distinct 

and independent part of this Franchise Agreement, and such holding shall not affect 

the validity and enforceability of all other provisions hereof, all of which shall 

remain in full force and effect for the term of this Franchise Agreement. 

 

C. Effect on Prior Agreements 

 

This Franchise Agreement shall supersede any prior franchise agreements between 

the parties. Immediately upon the taking effect of this Franchise Agreement, all 

DRAFT



36 

prior franchise agreements and any and all extensions thereof, shall terminate and 

shall have no further force and effect; provided, however, that any vested rights 

relating to billings and the Town’s rights to receive franchise fees shall not be 

affected thereby. 

D. Non-Enforcement Not Waiver

Neither party shall be excused from complying with any of the terms and conditions

of this Franchise Agreement by any failure of either party upon one or more

occasions to insist upon or to seek compliance with any such terms or conditions.

No course of dealing between the Company and the Town, nor any delay on the

part of the Town or Company in exercising any rights hereunder, shall operate as a

waiver of any such rights of the Town or Company or acquiescence in the actions

of the Company or the Town in contravention of such right, except to the extent

expressly waived by either party or expressly provided for in this Franchise

Agreement. No decision by the Town or Company to invoke any remedy under this

Franchise Agreement or under any statute, law or ordinance shall preclude the

availability of any other such remedy.  This provision does not extend any

applicable statute of limitations.

E. Company Warranties

Company warrants, represents and acknowledges that, as of the Execution Date of

this Franchise Agreement:

1. The Company is duly authorized to do business under the laws of the State;

2. The Company has the requisite power and authority under applicable law

and its bylaws and articles of incorporation and/or other organizational

documents, is authorized by resolutions of its Board of Directors or other

governing body, and has secured all consents which are required to be

obtained as of the execution date of this Franchise Agreement, to enter into

and legally bind Company to this Franchise Agreement and to take all

actions necessary to perform all of its obligations pursuant to this Franchise

Agreement;

3. This Franchise Agreement is enforceable against Company in accordance

with the provisions herein; and

4. There is no action or proceedings pending or threatened against Company

that would interfere with performance of this Franchise Agreement.DRAFT



37 

 

Execution 
 

Signatures:  

 

 

Date: ___________________, 2023              TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 

 

                                                                         By:___________________________________  

                                                                               Its: Selectman 

 

                                                                         By:___________________________________  

                                                                               Its: Selectman 

                                                                           

                                                                         By:___________________________________  

                                                                               Its: Selectman 

 

 

                                                                         By:___________________________________  

                                                                               Its: Selectman 

                                                                           

                                                                         By:___________________________________  

                                                                               Its: Selectman 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date: ____________________, 2023      

Spectrum Northeast, LLC 

By Charter Communications, Inc., Its Manager 

 

 

Signature:  

 

Name/Title:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT



38 

EXHIBIT A 

CABLE SERVICE TO MUNICIPAL BUILDINGS 

Lyman Town Hall 11 S Waterboro Rd 

Lyman Town Library  10 John Street 

Goodwins Mills Fire Department 481 Goodwins Mill Road 

DRAFT



Cable Television Ordinance 

Town of Lyman 

The Town of Lyman, acting through its municipal officers pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. 

§3008(2), hereby enacts the following Cable Television Ordinance:

Section 1 – PURPOSE 

The purpose for the ordinance is to provide for Town regulation and use of the cable television 

system including its construction, operation and maintenance in, along, upon, across, over and 

under the streets, alleys, public ways and public places now laid out or dedicated, and all 

extensions thereof and additions thereof in the Town of Lyman, including poles, wires, cables, 

underground conduits, manholes, conductors and fixtures necessary for the maintenance and 

operation in the Town of Lyman, of the cable television systems and to provide conditions 

accompanying the grant of franchise; and providing for the Town regulation of cable television 

operation.  

Section 2 – DEFINITIONS 

“Cable Television System” shall have the same meaning as defined in 30-A M.R.S.A. §3008 as 

the same may be amended.  

“Cable Television Company” shall mean any person, firm, or corporation owning, controlling, 

operating, managing, or leasing a cable television system within the Town of Lyman, 

sometimes hereinafter referred to as “the company.” 

“Town” shall mean the Town of Lyman, organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Maine and the area within its territorial limits. 

"Video service provider" means any person that directly or through one or more affiliates sells 

in the State access to video, audio or computer-generated or computer-augmented 

entertainment and directly or through one or more affiliates owns or operates facilities located 

in whole or in part in a municipality’s public rights-of-way that are used to provide those 

services, irrespective of the technology used to deliver such services. "Video service provider" 

includes, but is not limited to, a cable system operator and a common carrier that operates a 

cable television system. "Video service provider" does not include: 

(1) A commercial mobile service provider, as defined in 47 United States Code,

Section 332(d); or

(2) A provider of an Internet access service, as defined in 47 United States Code,

Section 231(e)(4), with respect to the provision of the Internet service by the

provider.



Section 3 – FRANCHISE REQUIRED 

No person, firm or corporation shall install, maintain or operate within the Town or any of its 

public ways or other public areas any equipment or facilities for the operation of a cable 

television system unless a franchise authorizing the use of said public ways or areas has first 

been obtained pursuant to the provision of this Ordinance and unless said franchise is in full 

force and effect.  

Section 4 – FRANCHISE CONTRACT 

The municipal officers of the Town may contract on such terms, conditions and fees as they 

deem in the best interests of the Town and its residents with one or more Cable Television 

Companies for the operation of a cable television system within the Town, including the 

granting of a non-exclusive franchise for the operation thereof for a period not to exceed 

fifteen (15) years.  

Applicants for a franchise or franchise renewal shall pay a non-refundable filing fee of $500 to 

the Town to defray the cost of public notice and advertising expenses relating to such 

application. The applicants may also be assessed the cost of attorney fees incurred by the Town 

of Lyman in connection with the cable franchise application and agreement. The application 

shall be filed with the Town Clerk and shall contain such information as the Town may require 

including, but not limited to, a general description of the applicant’s proposed operation, a 

schedule of proposed charges, a statement detailing its previous two fiscal years, an estimated 

ten year financial projection of its proposed system, its annual Town franchise fee as required 

by the Town, and the basis for same, and a statement detailing the prior operational experience 

of the applicant in both the cable television and microwave service including that of its 

officers, management and staff to be associated with the proposed operations.  

Any franchise contract may be revoked by the municipal officers for good and sufficient cause 

as provided in the franchise contract, after due notice to the company and a public hearing 

thereon, with the right to appeal to the Superior Court under Rule 80B of the Maine Rules of 

Civil Procedure.  

Section 5 – PUBLIC HEARING 

Before issuance of a request for proposals, or during the franchise contract renewal process, the 

Town shall hold a public hearing with at least seven (7) days advance notice for the purpose of 

determining any special local needs or interest regarding cable television.  

Applications for a franchise to operate a CATV system in the Town and related 

documents are public records to be filed with and maintained by the Town pursuant to the State 

Freedom of Access Law, 1 M.R.S.A. § 401 et seq., as amended from time to time.  



Before authorizing the issuance of any such franchise contract, including an assignment or a 

renewal of a franchise contract, the municipal officers shall review the applicant’s character, 

financial and technical qualifications and the adequacy and feasibility of its qualifications to 

operate a cable television system within the Town, and shall conduct a public hearing thereon 

with at least seven (7) days advertised notice prior to said public hearing.  

Section 6 – PERFORMANCE BOND AND INSURANCE COVERAGE 

The Cable Television Company shall provide sufficient insurance to indemnify and hold 

harmless the Town of Lyman, its agents and its employees from and against all claims, 

damages, losses, and expenses, including attorney’s fees, arising out of or resulting from the 

performance of the work, maintenance of the system and damages caused by components or 

portions thereof, provided that any such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to 

bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property, 

including the loss of use resulting therefrom, and is caused in whole or in part by any negligent 

or willful act or omission of the Cable Television Company and anyone directly or indirectly 

employed by it or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. Upon the execution of any 

such franchise contract, the cable television company shall file a surety company performance 

bond in an amount to be determined by the Board of Selectmen conditioned upon the faithful 

performance of said contract and full compliance with any laws, ordinances, or regulations 

governing said franchise. Said performance bond shall remain in effect until the Cable 

Television Company has completed any construction or reconstruction of the system as set 

forth in the franchise contract. 

The Cable Television Company shall also, upon execution of any such franchise contract, 

provide evidence of insurance coverage as the Municipal Officers may require.  

Section 7 – COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 

Cable Television Companies shall at all times comply with all applicable federal, State and 

local laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes and orders.  All applicable 

requirements of public and consumer protection laws affecting the provision of cable television 

services, including without limitation 30-A M.R.S.A. §3008 and§3010, as the same may be 

amended, are incorporated by reference. 

Section 8 -- SEVERABILITY 

Should any section or provision of this Ordinance be declared by the courts to be invalid, such 

decision shall not invalidate any other section or provision of this Ordinance. 

This ordinance is effective upon its adoption by the Selectboard, Town of Lyman. 



Approved this _________ day of __________________, 2023. 

Town of Lyman by its Selectboard 

________________________Ralph Blackington 

________________________Thomas Hatch 

________________________Jessica Picard 

________________________Amber Swett 

________________________Victoria Gavel 



Report to Selectmen 

Month of October 2023 

2023-2024 Tax Year 

Real Estate Tax Commitment - $7,871,329.42 

Personal Property Tax Commitment – $    39,116.55 

Total Tax Commitment: $7.910,445.97 

Supplemental Taxes YTD: $    231.61 

Abatements Granted YTD: $      5,050.32  

Prior Year(s) Abatement(s) YTD: $       58.50 

Real Estate / Personal Property Tax Payments Collected $1,081,957.71 
Includes Current, Delinquent, Prepayments, and Lien Payments for the month. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

Monthly Excise Tax 

Excise Tax Received 

Vehicles registered here at office:   $100,053.65 

Online Rapid Renewal Service      17,169.00 

Total Vehicle Excise   $117,222.65  

Boat Excise 

Boats registered here at office:   $   30.40  

Online Registration Service   $___      0.00 

Total Boat Excise    $          30.40 

Total Excise   $ 117,253.05 

Excise Tax Reimbursement      $     5,193.58    

Excise Tax Collected by State 

Year-to-date excise collection   $  358,581.13 

Respectfully submitted:  Susan J. Bellerose, Tax Collector 

ITEM #6: (d.) Tax Collectors Report



ITEM #6: (e.) Expense Report























ITEM #6: (g.) Planning Board Quarterly Report






